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Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 

 

In this document, unless the context otherwise requires, references to “we”, “our”, “us”, the “Company” or “Kubota 

Holdings” mean Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd., a Japanese corporation, and its subsidiaries, including Acucela Inc. 

All information is provided as of December 31, 2016, unless otherwise stated.  “¥” refers to Japanese Yen, the lawful currency 

of Japan, and “$” refers to U.S. dollars. 

 

Certain statements contained herein may constitute forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A 

of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The words or 

phrases “would be,” “will allow,” “intends to,” “may,” “believe,” “plan,” “will likely result,” “are expected to,” “will continue,” 

“is anticipated,” “estimate,” “project,” or similar expressions, or the negative of such words or phrases, are intended to identify 

“forward-looking statements.” You should read these statements carefully because they discuss future expectations, contain 

projections of future results of operations or financial condition, or state other “forward-looking” information. These statements 

relate to our future plans, objectives, expectations, intentions and financial performance and the assumptions that underlie these 

statements. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to: 

 

•  our ability to identify additional products or product candidates; 

•  the initiation, timing, cost, progress and success of our research and development programs, preclinical studies 

and clinical trials; 

•  our ability to advance product candidates into, and successfully complete, clinical trials; 

•  our ability to recruit sufficient numbers of subjects for our current and future clinical trials; 

•  our ability to achieve profitability; 

•  our ability to obtain funding for our operations, including research funding; 

•  the implementation of our business model and strategic initiatives; 

•  our ability to satisfy milestone payment obligations and pay other fees and costs related to licensing 

transactions we enter into; 

•  our ability to develop and commercialize our product candidates; 

•  our commercialization, marketing and manufacturing capabilities and strategy; 

•  our ability to protect our intellectual property and operate our business without infringing upon the intellectual 

property rights of others; 

•  our expectations regarding federal, state and foreign regulatory requirements; 

•  the therapeutic benefits, effectiveness and safety of our product candidates; 

•  the accuracy of our estimates of the size and characteristics of the markets that may be addressed by our 

products and product candidates; 

•  the rate and degree of market acceptance and clinical utility of our future products, if any; 

•  the timing of, and our and our collaborators’ ability to obtain and maintain regulatory approvals for our product 

candidates; 

•  our ability to maintain and establish collaborations; 

•  our expectations regarding market risk, including interest rate changes and foreign currency fluctuations; 

•  the sufficiency of our cash, cash equivalents and investments to meet our needs for at least the next 12 months; 

•  our ability to engage and retain the employees required to grow our business; 

•  our future financial performance, projected expenditures, and needs for additional financing; 

•  developments relating to our competitors and our industry, including the success of competing therapies that are 

or become available; and 

•  our ability to realize the expected benefits from the Redomicile Transaction. 

 

These forward-looking statements are subject to certain risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to 

differ materially from those anticipated in the forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such a difference include, 

but are not limited to, those discussed in Part I, Item 1A - “Risk Factors,” and elsewhere in the Annual Report on Form 10-K 
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for the year ended December 31, 2016. Forward-looking statements are based on our management’s beliefs and assumptions 

and on information currently available to our management. These statements, like all statements in this document, speak only 

as of their date, and we undertake no obligation to update or revise these statements in light of future developments. 

 

This document includes our trademarks and registered trademarks, including the Kubota Holdings logo, “Acucela” 

and other trademarks or service marks of Kubota Holdings. Each other trademark, trade name or service mark appearing in this 

document belongs to its holder. 

 

KUBOTA PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS CO., LTD. 

 

Business 

 

Explanatory Note 

 

On December 1, 2016 Japan Standard Time, we completed a corporate reorganization resulting in the change in 

corporate domicile, pursuant to which Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd., a company organized under the laws of 

Japan, or Kubota Holdings, became the publicly traded parent company of Acucela Inc., a Washington corporation, or Acucela 

US. The change in domicile, or the Redomicile Transaction, was effected pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated 

as of August 9, 2016, by and among Acucela US, Acucela North America Inc., a Washington corporation and wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Kubota Holdings, or US Merger Co, and Kubota Holdings. At the effective time of the merger, (1) Acucela US 

was merged with US Merger Co, with US Merger Co surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kubota Holdings 

and was renamed Acucela Inc., and (2) each issued and outstanding share of common stock of Acucela US, or Acucela US 

Common Stock, was cancelled and converted into the right to receive one share of Kubota Holdings common stock, or Kubota 

Holdings Common Stock.  An aggregate of approximately 37.8 million shares of Kubota Holdings Common Stock was 

delivered pursuant to the Redomicile Transaction prior to the listing of Kubota Holdings Common Stock on the Mothers market 

of the Tokyo Stock Exchange, or TSE, under the code “4596.” 

 

The issuance of the Kubota Holdings Common Stock was registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, 

or the Securities Act, pursuant to a registration statement on Form S-4 (File No. 333-210469), as amended, or the Registration 

Statement, filed by Kubota Holdings, which was declared effective by the U.S. Securit ies and Exchange Commission, or the 

SEC, on August 17, 2016.  

 

Overview 

 

We are a clinical stage ophthalmology company that is committed to translating innovation into a diverse portfolio 

of drugs and devices to preserve and restore vision for millions worldwide.  We have a broad product candidate portfolio of 

multiple technologies in the preclinical and clinical development stages intended to provide solutions to ophthalmic disorders 

affecting millions of people worldwide.  We are pursuing development of our product candidates for debilitating diseases such 

as diabetic retinopathy/diabetic macular edema, cataract, retinitis pigmentosa, Stargardt disease, and age-related macular 

degeneration.  As part of our mobile Health application initiatives, we are also developing technologies intended to detect 

nascent disease progression to improve treatment outcome in patients with wet age-related macular degeneration, diabetic 

macular edema and other neovascular retinal diseases. 

 

 

Ophthalmic Disorders Being Evaluated by Kubota Holdings 

Retinal degenerative diseases are a worldwide leading cause of blindness. The market for retinal pharmaceuticals is 

expected to be approximately $11 billion in 2017 and is expected to grow to approximately $13 billion by 2020 (Visiongain, 

Macular Degeneration and Other Retinal Diseases: World Drug Industry and Market 2015-2025). The retina is a thin layer of 

tissue on the inside back wall of the eye which contains millions of light-sensitive cells and neurosensory cells that receive and 
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organize visual information. The retina sends this information to the brain via the optic nerve, resulting in vision. Retinal 

diseases can affect the area of the retina that produces the central vision (the macula and fovea at the center of the macula).   

 

A summary of key retinal disorders targeted by our product pipeline follows: 

Diabetic Retinopathy is a progressive disease that affects the small blood vessels in the retina. It is estimated that it 

affects about 105 million people worldwide, is the most common cause of vision loss among people with diabetes and is the 

leading cause of vision impairment and blindness among working-age adults (Market Scope, The Global Retinal 

Pharmaceuticals & Biologic Market, 2015; and national Eye Institute). Diabetic Retinopathy can result in a condition called 

Diabetic Macular Edema whereby retinopathy can cause blood vessels in the retina to leak fluid or bleed, distorting vision. In 

its most advanced stage, called Proliferative Diabetic Retinopathy, new abnormal blood vessels increase in number on the 

surface of the retina, which can lead to scarring and cell loss in the retina.  

Stargardt disease is the most common form of inherited juvenile macular degeneration. Stargardt disease typically 

develops during childhood and adolescence and affects nearly 150,000 people in the U.S., Europe and Japan (Market Scope, 

2015 report on the Retinal Pharmaceuticals & Biologics Market; UN World Population Prospects 2015). The progressive vision 

loss associated with Stargardt disease is caused by the death of photoreceptor cells in the central portion of the retina called the 

macula. Photoreceptor cells in the retina are responsible for capturing and transmitting light to the brain. The macula is 

responsible for sharp central vision-for tasks like reading, watching television, and looking at faces. Decreased central vision is 

a hallmark of Stargardt disease. Side vision is usually preserved.  

Retinitis Pigmentosa, or RP, is a group of inherited diseases causing retinal degeneration leading to substantial 

vision impairment or blindness in young patients. An estimated 100,000 people in the U.S. have RP (Foundation Fighting 

Blindness) and it affects approximately 1.5 million people worldwide (Vaidya P, Vaidya A (2015) Retinitis Pigmentosa: Disease 

Encumbrance in the Eurozone. Int J Ophthalmol Clin Res 2:3).  RP is mainly caused by gene mutations inherited from one or 

both parents and is typically diagnosed in adolescents and young adults. People with RP experience a gradual decline in their  

vision because photoreceptor cells die. The rate of progression and degree of visual loss varies from person to person. Most 

people with RP are legally blind by age 40 (Foundation Fighting Blindness).   

 

Age related macular degeneration, or AMD, is a retinal disease that can cause patients to experience reduced 

central vision and lead to significant and irreversible loss of central vision in severe cases. It affects more than 138 million 

people worldwide and is the most common retinal disease (Market Scope, the Global Retinal Pharmaceuticals & Biologic 

Market, 2015). The disease exists in two forms, dry AMD and wet AMD. As AMD progresses, the disease may gradually 

destroy the fine central vision needed to see objects clearly and to perform common daily tasks, such as reading and driving. In 

particular, the advanced stages of dry and wet AMD are leading causes of vision loss and blindness among persons age 50 years 

and older in the United States.  

Cataract represents the partial or complete loss of transparency in the crystalline lens or its capsule. Cataracts 

develop as a result of aging, physical trauma, various systemic, dermatological, and central nervous system disorders, certain 

radiation, drug and chemical exposures and hereditary factors. Cataracts are the leading cause of moderate to severe visual 

impairment (33%) and blindness (51%) worldwide (Visiongain, Ophthalmic Drugs Market Forecast 2015-2025, World Health 

Organization). The prevalence rate increases with age. Age is the most important predictor of cataracts. Today’s standard of 

care for cataract is to surgically remove the opaque lens and replace it with an artificial intraocular lens. About 3.7 million 

cataract surgeries are performed per year in the United States alone.  

 

Kubota Holdings’ Product Candidate Portfolio  

 

Our lead compound for Stargardt disease is emixustat hydrochloride, or Emixustat. It is administrated as a once-

daily oral tablet and belongs to a novel class of drug candidates called visual cycle modulators, or VCM. Based on preclinical 

data, Emixustat is being evaluated clinically to potentially reduce toxins implicated in the pathogenesis of Stargardt disease and 

preserve the integrity of retinal tissue, thereby slowing disease progression. The U.S. FDA granted orphan drug designation to 
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Emixustat for the treatment of Stargardt disease in January 2017.  The compound may also have application in other retinal 

diseases including diabetic retinopathy. A multi-center Phase 2b/3 clinical trial evaluating Emixustat for geographic atrophy, or 

GA, has been recently completed and Emixustat failed to demonstrate a clinical benefit in GA patients.  As a consequence, we 

announced in June 2016 that our co-development partner for Emixustat, Otsuka Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd, or Otsuka, had 

terminated the Emixustat collaboration agreement. 

 

Our lead technology for neovascular retinal diseases such as wet age related macular degeneration, diabetic 

retinopathy / diabetic macular edema and retinal vein occlusion is ACU-6151. ACU-6151 is a small molecule found in animal 

studies to suppress vascular endothelial growth factor, or VEGF, driven vascular leakage and neovascularization while 

promoting homeostasis of healthy tissue. In December 2016, we entered into an R&D Collaboration Agreement, or the 

Collaboration Agreement, with EyeMedics, LLC, or EyeMedics. Pursuant to the terms of the Collaboration Agreement, we and 

EyeMedics will jointly conduct through human proof of concept the pre-clinical and clinical development of ACU-6151. 

 

Our lead compound for the treatment of cataract is lanosterol. Lanosterol has been found in animal studies to reverse 

lens opacification, the medical condition that defines cataracts. Lanosterol may reverse lens opacification in humans while 

maintaining the natural lens ability to accommodate, a process required to allow for reading and other activities that rely on 

near vision. We have licensed the global rights, excluding Hong Kong, Taiwan and China, for lanosterol from YouHealth 

Eyetech, Inc., or YouHealth, in March 2016.  We may also consider clinical development of lanosterol for presbyopia. 

 

Our lead technology for retinitis pigmentosa is an optogenetic therapy designed to make bipolar cells in the retina 

light sensitive. It is anticipated that this may restore some vision in advanced RP patients left with very limited visual function 

prior to therapy. We licensed the technology from the University of Manchester in April 2016.  

 

In addition to a diverse portfolio of drug candidates for various ophthalmic indications, we have invested in mobile 

Health application initiatives. The Patient Based Ophthalmology Suite or PBOS is being designed to detect nascent disease 

progression to improve treatment outcome in patients with wet AMD, DME and other neovascular retinal diseases.  

 

Strategy 

 

Our long-term strategy is to commercialize drugs and devices that will benefit people living with debilitating 

ophthalmological conditions. To this end, we will pursue research and development opportunities that fulfill the following 

selection criteria: 

 

•  product candidates must have significant market potential as assessed by disease prevalence and/or incidence, 

pricing and reimbursement opportunity, patent protection and competitive positioning;  

 

•  pharmaceutical product candidates must interact with a molecular target strongly linked by robust, scientific 

data to a targeted disease and the link must be validated by external experts in order to enhance the scientific 

likelihood of success.  Device product candidates must have a compelling link between the engineering 

technology and a mode of action to deliver an anticipated outcome; and  

 

•  we must be able to establish the product candidate's potential medical benefit and the likely positioning in the 

market with limited and defined time and resources in a proof of concept, or POC, study.  

 

We operate in one segment, pharmaceutical product development. All of our significant assets are located in the 

United States. During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, all revenue was generated in the United States. 

 

Kubota Holdings' goal is to develop an innovative portfolio of ophthalmology products. Key elements of its strategy 

to achieve this goal are to progress each of the programs currently under development and further expand the product pipeline 

as noted below: 
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•  Establish the therapeutic benefit of emixustat hydrochloride (Emixustat).  Kubota 

Holdings' Emixustat is designed to specifically target a key enzyme in retinal pigment 

epithelium cells within the retina to potentially treat and slow the progression of certain retinal 

diseases. Kubota Holdings is currently evaluating Emixustat in an ongoing exploratory clinical 

trial in patients with diabetic retinopathy initiated in the second quarter of 2016 with data 

expected in late 2017. Additionally, a pilot pharmacodynamic clinical study evaluating 

Emixustat in patients with Stargardt Disease was initiated in January 2017 with data expected in 

early 2018. Kubota Holdings is also evaluating plans to initiate or support exploratory clinical 

studies with Emixustat for the treatment of other ophthalmic conditions. 

 

•  Establish the therapeutic benefit of lanosterol.  Lanosterol, an endogenous product, has been 

found in preclinical experiments to resolve lens opacification in cataractous eyes. Kubota 

Holdings is currently developing an ocular formulation of lanosterol suitable for human use and 

expects to start an exploratory clinical study in patients with cataract in early 2018 with data 

expected in late 2018.  Kubota Holdings may also consider an exploratory study evaluating 

lanosterol for presbyopia at a later time. 

 

•  Establish the therapeutic benefit of the optogenetic technology.  Kubota Holdings licensed a 

gene therapy technology from the University of Manchester in the United Kingdom to express 

human rhodopsin in specific retinal cells to restore vision in patients who lost photoreceptors 

due to retinitis pigmentosa. Kubota Holdings is currently designing and testing different gene 

and viral constructs with the aim to initiate an exploratory clinical study in patients with very 

limited visual function due to RP in 2019. 

 

•  Establish the therapeutic benefit of EyeMedics’ small molecule biomimetic compounds 

(ACU-6151).  Kubota Holdings is working collaboratively with its partner, EyeMedics, on 

ACU-6151, a biomimetic compound which has been found in preclinical experiments to inhibit 

vascular endothelial growth factor induced vascular leakage comparable to anti-VEGF therapy 

without loss of native microvasculature. Kubota Holdings is currently developing an ocular 

formulation and expects to start an exploratory dose escalating clinical study in patients with 

diabetic macular edema in 2018 followed by a proof of concept clinical study with data 

available in 2020. 

 

•  Establish the benefit of PBOS technology.  Kubota Holdings’ lead project for mobile Health 

applications is the PBOS. In its first iteration, the PBOS aims to improve treatment outcome in 

patients diagnosed and treated for wet AMD, DME and other neovascular retinal diseases. The 

PBOS is being designed to detect nascent disease progression and support patient re-treatment 

prior to irreversible vision loss due to disease progression.  A proof of concept study is 

anticipated to be initiated in early 2019 with data available in late 2019.  

 

•  Expand the ophthalmic product pipeline through internal research, M&A, and additional 

partnering or in-licensing opportunities.  Kubota Holdings intends to deploy capital in 2017 

and beyond to fund its internal drug discovery and development efforts, as well as license or 

otherwise acquire the rights to potential new ophthalmic product candidates. 

Kubota Holdings expects its research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars as it continues to 

expand and develop product candidates. Kubota Holdings also expects that research and development expenses will increase in 

the near term as a result of potential upfront and milestone payments it makes as it executes its strategy through additional in-

licensing transactions. 

Collaboration and License Agreements 
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For more information on Kubota Holdings collaboration and license agreements, please refer to "Note 9: 

Collaboration and License Agreements" in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this document. 

Intellectual Property 

 

We believe a strong patent portfolio is critical to our success and we aggressively seek patent protection for our 

technology. We also rely upon unpatented proprietary technology and know-how because, in some cases, we believe our 

interests are better served by reliance on trade secrets or confidentiality agreements than by patents. As of December 31, 2016, 

our worldwide portfolio consisted of the following: 

 Issued Patents Pending Patent Applications 

U.S. 3 7 

Japan 3 2 

Rest of World 10 11 

     Total Worldwide 16 20 

 

Following the May 2016 announcement of the Phase 2b/3 top-line results from our study of Emixustat in patients 

with GA secondary to dry AMD and the subsequent termination of our Emixustat collaboration agreement by Otsuka, we 

commenced an evaluation of the VCM portion of our patent portfolio, including an analysis of whether any existing patents or 

patent applications could be abandoned.  As a result of this evaluation, we no longer take actions to keep certain issued patents 

in force and have abandoned the pending patent applications related to certain back-up development compounds and focused 

our VCM portfolio on Emixustat and its potential use to treat diabetic retinopathy and Stargardt disease.  We retain rights for 

Emixustat in certain large pharmaceutical markets, including North America, Europe, China and Japan.  As part of the 

evaluation of our VCM patent portfolio, we also no longer take actions to keep the issued patents in force and have abandoned 

all pending patent applications related to fenretinide.  We had previously acquired the ophthalmic intellectual property rights to 

fenretinide, a retinol-binding protein antagonist, and its related compounds from ReVision Therapeutics, in order to strengthen 

our position in VCM technology.  The following is a description of the material components of our intellectual property 

portfolio. 

 

Visual Cycle Modulation. For Emixustat, we have three issued U.S. patents (U.S. Patent No. 7,982,071, U.S. Patent 

No. 8,981,153 and U.S. Patent No. 8,993,807), and three pending U.S. patent applications. The issued patents will expire on or 

around 2029. Outside the United States, we have a total of 13 issued patents, as well as approximately 13 pending foreign 

counterparts. If issued, these patents will cover compositions of matter and methods of using Emixustat and would expire 

between 2028 and 2033.  

 

Other than the patents and patent applications described above that cover our VCM technology undergoing clinical 

investigation, we have no other issued U.S. patents and one pending U.S. patent application.  If issued, this pending U.S. patent 

application will cover methods of using VCM compositions and would expire in 2028.  Outside the United States, other than 

the patents and patent applications described above that cover our VCM technology undergoing clinical investigation, we have 

no granted patents and no pending foreign counterparts in Europe and other countries.  

 

Other Technologies. As of December 31, 2016, we have four pending U.S. provisional applications covering new 

programs. We intend to continue to invest in our internal drug discovery and development programs and actively seek to license 

or otherwise acquire the rights to potential new drugs to expand or enhance our product pipeline. For example, in March 2016, 

we acquired an exclusive option to acquire rights to intellectual property for the use of lanosterol in the treatment of cataracts 

from YouHealth and University of California, San Diego.  As of February 22, 2017, the patent portfolio comprised one pending 

US patent application and 10 pending foreign counterparts with the term of the resulting patents expiring in 2035.  

 

In April 2016, we licensed intellectual property rights to the use of an optogenetic gene therapy construct from the 

University of Manchester, England.  In particular, there are pending applications in the US, Europe, Brazil, and India. If 



 

8 

granted, these patents are expected to expire on or around 2035 and relate to human rhodopsin based optogenetic gene therapy 

for the treatment of retinal degenerative disease.  In December 2016, we entered into an R&D agreement and exclusive option 

to acquire the global rights for ACU-6151 and derivatives for ophthalmic use from EyeMedics.  The patent portfolio for this 

proprietary technology provides coverage for compositions of matter and methods of use.  As of December 31, 2016, the 

portfolio comprises three granted US patents with a patent term extending until 2024, three pending US patent applications 

with terms of the resulting patents expiring in 2024, 2034, and 2036, and seven pending foreign counterparts with a patent term 

extending until 2034. 

Competition 

The pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device industries are intensely competitive, and our product 

candidates, if commercialized, would compete with potential or existing drugs, devices and therapies.  In addition, there are 

many pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies, public and private universities, government agencies and research 

organizations actively engaged in research and development of products targeting the same markets as our product candidates. 

For example, Alkeus Pharmaceuticals, Inc. is also pursuing clinical development in Stargardt disease with an ongoing Phase 2 

clinical study evaluating their small molecule candidate, ALK-001. In addition, Sanofi is currently evaluating their ABCA4 

gene therapy candidate, SAR422459 in patients with Stargardt disease.  We anticipate these candidates to be competitors to 

Emixustat if the clinical programs pass the thresholds for important safety and efficacy milestones.  Many of these 

organizations have substantially greater financial, technical, manufacturing and marketing resources than we have. Moreover, 

physicians frequently prescribe legally available therapies for uses that are not described in the product’s labeling and that 

differ from those tested in clinical studies and approved by the FDA or similar regulatory authorities in other countries. These 

unapproved, or “off-label,” uses are common across medical specialties and may represent a potential source of competition to 

our product candidates.   

 Our ability to compete successfully will depend largely on our ability to:  

•  design and develop products that are superior to other products in the market;  

•  attract and retain qualified scientific, product development and commercial personnel;  

•  obtain regulatory exclusivity, patent and/or other intellectual property protection for our product candidates and 

technologies;  

•  obtain required regulatory approvals;  

•  obtain reimbursement from healthcare payors; and 

•  successfully collaborate in the design, development and commercialization of new products.  

We expect to compete on, among other things, product efficacy and safety profile, time to market, pricing, and the 

basis and convenience of treatment procedures.    

Sales and Marketing 

As we continue to evolve as an organization and further develop our product candidates, we plan to evaluate our 

commercialization plan and strategy to optimize the market potential for our product candidates.  

Environmental Matters 

Our operations require the use of hazardous materials (including biological materials) which subject us to a variety 

of federal, state and local environmental and safety laws and regulations. Some of the regulations under the current regulatory 

structure provide for strict liability, holding a party potentially liable without regard to fault or negligence. We could be held 

liable for damages and fines as a result of our, or others’, business operations should contamination of the environment or 

individual exposure to hazardous substances occur. We cannot predict how changes in laws or development of new regulations 

will affect our business operations or the cost of compliance. 
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Research and Development 

During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, we expended approximately $20.7 million, $22.6 

million, and $25.6 million, respectively, on research and development activities. 

Manufacturing and Supply 

We rely on third parties to manufacture all our product candidates in accordance with the FDA’s current good 

manufacturing practice, or cGMP guidelines, and do not expect to establish our own cGMP compliant manufacturing capability 

for the foreseeable future. We maintain in-house capabilities for research, process and formulation development and maintain 

relationships with third-party vendors to supplement our in-house capabilities. We outsource all large scale manufacturing 

activities, including all manufacturing of clinical and commercial supplies.  

We have no contractual commitments to any manufacturers for future manufacturing.  We believe that there are 

adequate manufacturing sources available on commercially reasonable terms to meet our clinical and any future commercial 

production requirements.  

Preclinical Development 

We rely on third parties to conduct all preclinical experiments in accordance with the FDA’s current good laboratory 

practice, or cGLP guidelines, and do not expect to establish our own cGLP compliant preclinical testing capability. We maintain 

in-house preclinical development capabilities, including a vivarium and bioanalytical capabilities. We supplement these 

capabilities with collaborations with selected contract research organizations and other research institutions.  

Clinical Development 

We rely on third parties to conduct and report our clinical studies in accordance with the FDA’s current good clinical 

practice, or cGCP, guidelines and do not expect to establish our own cGCP compliant clinical development capability. We 

maintain in-house clinical study design, study conduct oversight, regulatory and biometric capabilities. We execute all our 

clinical studies with the help of external, cGCP compliant contract research organizations.  

Government and Other Regulation 

We follow the regulations implemented by government authorities in the United States and other countries 

governing among other things, the research, development, testing, quality, efficacy, safety (pre- and post-marketing), 

manufacturing, labeling, storage, record-keeping, advertising, promotion, export, import, marketing and distribution of 

pharmaceutical products.  For additional information regarding the legal and regulatory environments in which we operate, 

please refer to the section titled “Business – Government and Other Regulation” in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 

year ended December 31, 2016 filed with the SEC on March 15, 2017.  

Employees  

As of December 31, 2016, Kubota Holdings and its subsidiaries had a total of 45 employees employed in the areas 

of research, clinical development and operations and administration. None of our employees are represented by a labor union or 

covered by a collective bargaining agreement. We have never experienced any employment-related work stoppages and 

consider relations with our employees to be good. 

 

Available Information 

 

Kubota Holdings was incorporated in Japan in 2015. Our corporate headquarters are located at 4-20-3 Ebisu, 

Shibuya-ku, Tokyo, Japan 150-6018 and our telephone number is +81 3-5789-5872. Our website address is 

www.kubotaholdings.co.jp/en. We are the successor registrant to Acucela Inc. pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The information contained in, or that can be accessed through, our web site is not 

incorporated into, or otherwise to be regarded as part of, the Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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We make available our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on 

Form 8-K, proxy statements and amendments to those reports filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or Section 15(d) of 

the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, free of charge on our website at http://www.kubotaholdings.co.jp/en/ir/sec-

filings/index.html, as soon as reasonably practicable after they are electronically filed with or furnished to the Securities and 

Exchange Commission, or SEC. Additionally, copies of materials filed by us with the SEC may be accessed at the SEC's Public 

Reference Room at 100 F Street, N.E., Washington, D.C. 20549 or at www.sec.gov. For information about the SEC's Public 

Reference Room, contact 1-800-SEC-0330. 

 

Kubota holdings will mail without charge, upon written request, a copy of Kubota Holdings’ Annual Report 

on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016, including the financial statements, schedules and list of exhibits, 

and any particular exhibit specifically requested. Requests should be sent to: Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., 

Ltd., 4-20-3 Ebisu, Shibuya-ku, Tokyo, Japan 150-6018, Attn: Investor Relations. The annual report on Form 10-K is 

also available at http://www.kubotaholdings.co.jp/en. 

 

 

 

 

Market for Registrant's Common Equity,  

 

Market Information 

 

Kubota Holdings common stock has been listed on the Mothers market of the Tokyo Stock Exchange under the code 

"4596" since December 6, 2016.  Prior to that date, the common stock of our predecessor, Acucela Inc. was traded under the 

code "4589" since its IPO on February 13, 2014. Acucela's IPO was priced at ¥1,816 or $17.72 per share in February 2014 

(based on an exchange rate of ¥102.47 to one U.S. dollar which is the TTM rate quoted by The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, 

Ltd.).  On November 25, 2016, Acucela’s stock was delisted from the TSE in anticipation of the listing of Kubota Holdings 

common stock.  On February 28, 2017, the closing price for Kubota Holdings common stock was ¥902, or approximately $8.01, 

per share (based on an exchange rate of ¥112.56 to one U.S. dollar which is the TTM rate quoted by The Bank of Tokyo-

Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd.). 

 

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the reported high and low sales prices per share of common 

stock of Acucela Inc. or Kubota Holdings, as applicable, as reported on the Mothers market of the Tokyo Stock Exchange.  The 

prices in the following table have been translated from Japanese yen to a corresponding U.S. dollar amount based on the TTM 

rates quoted by The Bank of Tokyo-Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. in effect on the date the price disclosed was reported on the Mothers 

market of the Tokyo Stock Exchange. 

 

 Year Ended December 31, 2016  Year Ended December 31, 2015 

 High  Low  High  Low 

First quarter $ 25.52   $ 6.98   $ 6.15   $ 5.36  

Second quarter $ 69.90   $ 8.98   $ 7.08   $ 4.92  

Third quarter $ 24.28   $ 9.37   $ 6.49   $ 4.81  

Fourth quarter $ 12.99   $ 7.45   $ 7.02   $ 5.50  
 

Holders of Common Stock 

As of February 28, 2017, there were 12,962 holders of record of our common stock.  As many of our shares of 

common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of shareholders, we are unable to estimate the total number of 

beneficial holders of our common stock represented by these record holders. 

http://www.kubotaholdings.co.jp/en
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Dividends 

We have not declared or paid a cash dividend on our capital stock and do not intend to pay cash dividends for the 

foreseeable future. All dividends are subject to the approval of our board of directors. Any future determinations to pay 

dividends on our capital stock would depend on our results of operations, our financial condition and liquidity requirements, 

restrictions that may be imposed by applicable law or our contracts, and any other factors that our board of directors in its sole 

discretion may consider relevant in declaring a dividend. 

Stock Performance Graph 

The following shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the 

liabilities under that Section and shall not be incorporated by reference into any of our other filings under the Exchange Act or 

the Securities Act, except to the extent we specifically incorporate it by reference into such filing. 

The following graph compares the cumulative total return on our common stock with that of the Japan TOPIX Index 

and the NASDAQ Biotechnology Index from February 13, 2014 (the date Acucela US common stock commenced trading on the 

Mothers Market of the Tokyo Stock Exchange) to December 31, 2016.  The chart assumes $100 was invested at the close of 

market on February 13, 2014 in our common stock, and assumes the reinvestment of any dividends.  The stock price 

performance on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance. 

The closing price of our common stock on December 30, 2016, the last trading day of fiscal 2016, was ¥1,044 or 

$8.96 per share (based on an exchange rate of ¥116.49 to one U.S. dollar, which is the TTM rate quoted by The Bank of Tokyo-

Mitsubishi UFJ, Ltd. on such date). 
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Base 

Period Quarter Ending 

Company / Index 2/13/2014 6/30/2014 12/31/2014 6/30/2015 12/31/2015 6/30/2016 12/31/2016 

Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. $ 100  $ 45.81  $ 31.49  $ 31.88  $ 36.94  $ 103.77  $ 46.30  

Japan TOPIX Index 100  105.24  117.32  135.90  128.97  103.84  126.57  

Nasdaq Biotechnology Index 100  98.96  117.31  142.36  131.36  99.22  102.14  
 

 

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities 

None. 

Share Repurchases 

During the three months ended December 31, 2016, there were no purchases of shares of common stock made by, or 

on behalf of, the Company or any "affiliated purchaser," as defined by Rule 10b-18 of the Exchange Act. 
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Selected Financial Data 

You should read the selected financial data set forth below in conjunction with the information in Item 7, 

"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations," and our audited financial 

statements and the related notes thereto appearing elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, which are incorporated 

herein by reference.  Historical results are not necessarily indicative of future results. 

 Year Ended December 31, 

 2016  2015  2014  2013  2012 

 (in thousands, except per share data) 

Revenue from collaborations $ 7,606   $ 24,067   $ 35,396   $ 52,947   $ 46,424  

Expenses:          

Research and development 20,707   22,636   25,582   36,405   31,604  

General and administrative 22,895   27,987   10,002   9,548   7,787  

Total expenses 43,602   50,623   35,584   45,953   39,391  

Income (loss) from operations (35,996 )  (26,556 )  (188 )  6,994   7,033  

Other income (expense), net:          

Interest income 1,408   1,117   519   122   27  

Interest expense —   —   (15 )  (116 )  (138 ) 

Other income (expense), net 64   (20 )  37   182   (97 ) 

Income (loss) before income tax (34,524 )  (25,459 )  353   7,182   6,825  

Income tax benefit (expense) (1 )  (50 )  (2,359 )  (2,883 )  (2,647 ) 

Net income (loss) $ (34,525 )  $ (25,509 )  $ (2,006 )  $ 4,299   $ 4,178  

Net income attributable to participating securities —   —   —   3,138   3,056  

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders $ (34,525 )  $ (25,509 )  $ (2,006 )  $ 1,161   $ 1,122  

Net income (loss) per share attributable to common 

shareholders, basic $ (0.92 )  $ (0.71 )  $ (0.06 )  $ 0.10 
 
 $ 0.09 

 

Weighted average shares used to compute net income (loss) per 

share attributable to common shareholders, basic 
37,417 

 

 35,972 

 

 32,869 

 

 11,964 

 

 11,901 

 

Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders per 

share, diluted $ (0.92 )  $ (0.71 )  $ (0.06 )  $ 0.09 
 
 $ 0.09 

 

Weighted average shares used to compute net income (loss) per 

share attributable to common shareholders, diluted 
37,417 

 

 35,972 

 

 32,869 

 

 12,355 

 

 12,158 

 

 

 As of December 31, 

Balance Sheet Data: 2016  2015  2014  2013  2012 

 (in thousands) 

Cash, cash equivalents and investments $ 141,289   $ 166,525   $ 187,819   $ 32,419   $ 23,566  

Working capital 122,706   111,789   99,158   19,412   25,990  

Total assets 147,383   175,950   196,966   54,048   47,024  

Contingently convertible debt, related party (including current portion) —   —   —   12,000   12,000  

Convertible preferred stock —   —   —   28,209   28,209  

Accumulated deficit (65,500 )  (30,975 )  (5,466 )  (3,460 )  (7,759 ) 

Total shareholders’ equity 141,817   166,434   184,363   31,124   25,607  
 



 

14 

 

 

Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

 

You should read the following discussion and analysis together with the financial statements and the related notes 

to those statements included elsewhere in this document. This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks 

and uncertainties. As a result of many factors, such as those set forth in the section of the Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 

year ended December 31, 2016 captioned “Risk Factors” and elsewhere in this document, our actual results may differ 

materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements. Throughout this discussion, unless the context otherwise 

requires, references to “we”, “us”, “our”, the “Company” or “Kubota Holdings” means Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings 

Co., Ltd., a Japanese corporation, and its subsidiaries, including Acucela Inc. 

 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

 

The discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our financial statements 

which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, or GAAP. The 

preparation of our financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, 

liabilities, revenues, costs and expenses and related disclosures. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate these estimates and 

judgments, including those described below. We base our estimates and assumptions on historical experience and other sources 

that we believe to be reasonable at the time. Actual results may vary from our estimates due to changes in circumstances, 

general business conditions and other factors. Actual results and experiences may differ materially from these estimates. To the 

extent that there are differences between our estimates and actual results, our future financial statement presentation, financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows will be affected. We believe that the accounting policies discussed below are 

critical to understanding our historical and future performance, as these policies relate to the more significant areas involving 

management’s judgments and estimates.  

 

Revenue Recognition. One of our business strategies is to enter into collaboration agreements with pharmaceutical companies 

for the development and commercialization of product candidates. The terms of the agreements may include nonrefundable 

license fees, funding of research and development activities, payments based upon achievement of development milestones, 

payments based upon achievement of regulatory and revenue milestones, and product sales or royalties on product sales. We 

recognize revenue when four basic criteria have been met: (a) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (b) services are 

rendered; (c) the fee is fixed or determinable; and (d) collectability is reasonably assured.  Amounts received prior to satisfying 

these criteria are recorded as deferred revenue.  

 

Multiple Element Arrangements. Our collaboration agreements with Otsuka were multiple element arrangements 

which were analyzed to identify whether the deliverables included in the agreements qualify as separate units of accounting. We 

determined that the activities associated with development met the criterion for a separate unit of accounting, since these 

services had value to Otsuka on a standalone basis. Best estimate of the selling price, or BESP, is based on our analysis of the 

value of the services provided and consideration of the fees charged by third party vendors for similar development services. 

We determined that the fees charged for the research services are competitive with the price other third-party vendors charge for 

similar research services. There were no rights of return in our collaboration agreements. Payments that are contingent upon the 

occurrence of future events that are not exclusively within our control are excluded from the allocable arrangement 

consideration until the contingency is resolved.  

 

Revenue from development efforts is recognized as services are incurred by third-parties. Revenue earned by full-

time or part-time salaried employees is recognized using a proportional performance model based on hours worked. When we 

are able to estimate the total amount of services under a unit of accounting and such performance obligations are provided on a 

best-efforts basis, revenue is recognized using a proportional performance model. Costs incurred to date compared to total 

expected costs are used to determine proportional performance, as this is considered to be representative of the delivery of 
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outputs. Significant judgment is required in determining the level of effort required and the period over which we are expected 

to complete our performance obligations under each unit of accounting.  

 

Funded Development. Our agreement with Otsuka regarding the development of Emixustat contained elements of 

funded development, and we evaluated the agreement to determine if our obligation to Otsuka should be accounted for as a 

liability to repay a loan or as an obligation to perform contractual services.  To conclude that a liability to repay a loan does not 

exist, the transfer of the financial risk involved with research and development from us to Otsuka must be substantive and 

genuine. We determined that our obligation to Otsuka should be accounted for as an obligation to perform contractual services 

because repayment depends solely on the results of development having future economic benefit. Consequently, amounts 

received from Otsuka for our share of development costs under the arrangement were recognized as revenue.  In June 2016, 

Otsuka terminated their collaboration and licensing agreements with us.  In the absence of any new collaboration agreements, 

we expect our revenues to decrease to zero for 2017.  Through December 31, 2016, we recognized revenue of approximately 

$64.0 million, which amounts are contingently repayable as described above. As of December 31, 2016, the contingently 

repayable funding had accrued $7.2 million of interest, which is also contingently repayable under the same terms as the 

funding.  

 

Research and Development and Clinical Trial Accounting. Research and development expenses include salaries, fees paid to 

external service providers and contract research organizations to conduct research and development activities, laboratory 

supplies, license fees, consulting fees and travel. Research and development costs are expensed as incurred. Certain indirect  

expenses are allocated between research and development, and general and administrative expenses as appropriate.  

 

We record prepaid assets and accrued liabilities related to our clinical trials, associated with contract research 

organizations, clinical trial investigators and other vendors, based upon amounts paid and the estimated amount of work 

completed on each clinical trial or other activity. The financial terms of agreements vary from vendor to vendor and may result 

in uneven payment flows. As such, if we have advanced funds exceeding our estimate of the work completed, we record a 

prepaid asset. If our estimate of the work completed exceeds the amount paid, an accrued liability is recorded. All such costs 

are charged to research and development expenses based on these estimates or on actual costs incurred. Our estimates may or 

may not match the actual services performed by the organizations as determined by patient enrollment levels and related 

activities. We monitor patient enrollment levels and related activities to the extent possible through internal reviews, 

correspondence and discussions with our contract research organizations and review of contractual terms. However, if we have 

incomplete or inaccurate information, we may underestimate or overestimate activity levels associated with various clinical 

trials at a given point in time. In this event, we could record significant research and development expenses in future periods 

when the actual level of activities becomes known. To date, we have not experienced material changes in these estimates. 

Additionally, we do not expect material adjustments to research and development expenses to result from changes in the nature 

and level of clinical trial activity and related expenses that are currently subject to estimation. In the future, as we pursue 

development of our product candidates in multiple indications, execute in-licensing transactions resulting in potential upfront 

and milestone payments and expand our clinical trial activities, we expect to have increased levels of research and development 

costs that will be subject to estimation.   

 

Income Taxes.  We completed our Redomicile Transaction on December 1, 2016 through a forward triangular merger. 

Following the Redomicile Transaction, Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. is treated as a domestic U.S. corporation for 

U.S. federal income tax purposes and reports on a consolidated basis. 

 

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have already 

been recognized in our financial statements or tax returns. Excess tax benefits associated with stock option exercises and other 

equity awards are credited to shareholders' equity. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are based on the difference between 

financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities, operating loss, and tax credit carryforwards and 

are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect in the years the differences or carryforwards are anticipated to be 

recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is established when we believe that it is more likely than not that benefits of the 

deferred tax assets will not be realized.  We have recorded a full valuation allowance due to uncertainty over future realization 

of our deferred tax assets.  The Company had no uncertain tax positions as of December 31, 2016 or 2015, and we do not 
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anticipate any significant changes in our unrecognized tax benefits over the next twelve months. Interest and penalties, if 

applicable, are recorded as tax expense.  

  

 

Stock-Based Compensation. Stock-based compensation cost is estimated at the grant date based on the award’s fair value and 

is recognized on a straight line basis as expense, less estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period, which is generally 

the vesting period. The fair value of stock options under our outstanding equity awards is calculated using the Black-Scholes 

option pricing model. The Black-Scholes model requires various assumptions regarding volatility and expected option life. If 

any of the assumptions used in the Black-Scholes model change significantly, stock-based compensation expense for new 

awards may differ materially from that recorded for existing awards.  

 

Equity awards generally vest and become exercisable over a four-year period.  For specific award vesting schedules, 

see "Note 7: Share-Based Compensation" in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this document.  

 

 

Description of Operating Accounts  

Revenue from collaborations to date has been generated primarily by our research and development activities 

pursuant to our collaboration and licensing agreements with Otsuka.  Our revenue consists of reimbursement from Otsuka for 

our fees paid to external service providers in connection with our collaboration agreements with Otsuka, payment from Otsuka 

for the development services provided by our personnel for services rendered as part of our collaborative research program, 

Otsuka’s funding of our portion of development costs under the Emixustat Agreement, an initial license fee as part of the 

Emixustat Agreement, and milestone payments. We began winding down our collaborations efforts with Otsuka following their 

notice to terminate their collaboration and licensing agreements with us in June 2016.  We do not anticipate recognizing any 

further revenues from Otsuka and, in the absence of any new collaboration agreements, do not expect revenue in 2017. We are 

required by the Tokyo Stock Exchange to generate revenue five years after our IPO in 2014. Currently, we are pursuing various 

partnering efforts and, if such partnering transactions are consummated, expect to generate revenue in the future through such 

strategic collaborations.  

Research and development expenses incurred to date have substantially focused on developing potential therapies 

for sight-threatening diseases. Following entry into our collaboration agreements with Otsuka, our efforts have been principally 

directed towards fulfilling our commitments thereunder, particularly under the Emixustat Agreement.  We recognize research 

and development expenses as they are incurred and these costs primarily consist of fees paid to consultants, contract research 

organizations, independent monitors of our clinical trials, and parties acquiring and evaluating data in conjunction with our 

clinical trials, including all related fees such as investigator fees, license fees, patient screening, lab work and data compilation 

and statistical analysis; costs related to production of clinical materials, including fees paid to contract manufacturers; costs 

related to compliance with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration and European Medicine Agency regulatory requirements; 

consulting fees paid to third parties involved in research and development activities; compensation and related expenses for 

personnel in research and development functions; and an allocated portion of certain general and administrative costs.  We 

expect our research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we pursue development of our product 

candidates in multiple indications and execute in-licensing transactions resulting in potential upfront and milestone payments.  

General and administrative expenses consist primarily of compensation for employees in executive and 

administrative functions, including finance, accounting, legal and human resources. Other significant costs include facilities 

costs and professional fees for accounting and legal services, including legal services associated with obtaining and maintaining 

patents. In 2016, approximately $3.2 million of our general and administrative expenses was attributable to our Redomicile 

Transaction, which was completed in the fourth quarter of 2016.  In 2017, we intend to continue to conduct a comprehensive 

evaluation of our cost structure and expect general and administrative expenses to decline in 2017 compared to 2016 due in part 

to the completion of our Redomicile Transaction in December 2016.   

Interest income consists primarily of interest earned on our cash, cash equivalents and short-term and long-term 

investments.  
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Other income (expense) consists primarily of foreign exchange gains/losses incurred on transactions occurring in 

Japan, gain or losses from the disposal of fixed assets or other miscellaneous items.  

Income tax expense consists of insignificant deferred income taxes in 2016, 2015 and 2014, in addition to the 

recording of a valuation allowance related to deferred tax assets for which we do not anticipate future realization. We did not 

record an income tax benefit for the years ended December 31, 2016 or 2015, and recorded income tax expense to establish a 

full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets in the year ended December 31, 2014, due to uncertainty over future 

realization of our deferred tax assets.  

 

 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS  

 

Year ended December 31, 2016 compared to the year ended December 31, 2015  

 

REVENUE FROM COLLABORATIONS  

 

Our clinical programs consist of the following categories: Proprietary, which includes the development of Emixustat 

under the terms of the Emixustat Agreement; and In-Licensed, which includes the development of OPA-6566 under the terms 

of the OPA-6566 Agreement. 

 

The following table presents revenues for clinical programs (in thousands, except percentages): 

 Year Ended December 31,  
2015 to 2016 

$ Change  
2015 to 2016 

% Change  2016  2015  

Emixustat $ 7,592   $ 24,064   $ (16,472 )  (68.5 )% 

OPA-6566 14   3   11   366.7 % 

Total $ 7,606   $ 24,067   $ (16,461 )  (68.4 )% 

Proprietary   

Emixustat. Revenues from clinical programs under the Emixustat Agreement decreased in 2016 compared to 2015.   

The decrease in revenue from collaborations was primarily due to billing fewer full-time employees as a result of the 

completion of the Emixustat clinical trial during the year and wind-down activities related to Emixustat following the 

termination of our collaboration with Otsuka.  Wind-down activities related to Emixustat were completed in December 2016. 

Our Phase 2b/3 clinical trial results related to Emixustat for the treatment of geographic atrophy was completed in 

May 2016.  We do not expect to generate any revenue from the terminated collaboration with Otsuka related to Emixustat in the 

future.  

 

In-Licensed 

 OPA-6566. Our clinical program related to Otsuka's proprietary compound for potential treatment of glaucoma was 

terminated in 2016. We do not expect to generate any revenue from the collaboration related to OPA-6566 in the future.  
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OPERATING EXPENSES  

Research and development  

We anticipate that potential product candidates developed under our strategic plan may be developed independently, 

and, in the absence of establishing new collaborations, our expenditures on such programs will not be funded by collaborative 

partners. As a consequence, we expect our total research and development expenses to increase in absolute dollars as we pursue 

development of our product candidates in multiple indications and potentially execute additional in-licensing transactions 

resulting in potential upfront and milestone payments. 

In addition to expenses incurred in connection with our Proprietary and In-Licensed clinical programs, we also incur 

costs and expenses associated with our internal research activities related primarily to our VCM compounds and other product 

development.  By program, our research and development expenses were as follows (in thousands, except percentages): 

 Year Ended December 31,  
2015 to 2016 

$ Change  
2015 to 2016 

% Change  2016  2015  

Emixustat $ 11,576   $ 21,060   $ (9,484 )  (45.0 )% 

Internal Research 9,122   1,575   7,547   479.2 % 

OPA-6566 9   1   8   800.0 % 

Total $ 20,707   $ 22,636   $ (1,929 )  (8.5 )% 

Proprietary   

Emixustat. Research and development expense related to clinical programs under the Emixustat Agreement 

decreased in 2016 compared to 2015.  The decrease was due to the completion of the Phase 2b/3 clinical trial and related wind-

down in activities related to such clinical trial following the termination of the Emixustat Agreement.  

 

In-Licensed 

 

OPA-6566. Due to the termination of the OPA-6566/Glaucoma Agreement with Otsuka in 2016 and the results of a 

Phase 1/2 clinical study evaluating OPA-6566 in 2012, we do not expect to incur any research and development expenses 

related to this program in the future. 

 

Internal Research. Research and development expenses incurred through our internal research activities increased in 

2016 compared to 2015, mainly due to new product development in connection with execution of our strategic plan.  This 

increase included an upfront non-refundable fee of $5.0 million, paid to YouHealth in the first quarter of 2016 in connection 

with the option and license agreement for lanosterol technology. 

 

General and administrative 

 

 Year Ended December 31,  
2015 to 2016 

$ Change  
2015 to 2016 

% Change  2016  2015  

General and administrative $ 22,895   $ 27,987   $ (5,092 )  (18.2 )% 

 

General and administrative expenses decreased $5.1 million in 2016 compared to the prior year primarily due to the 

following one-time expenses related to our changes in management during 2015: 

•  we recognized less stock based compensation expense related to accelerated vesting upon termination by former 

employees than in the prior year by $3.0 million; 
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•  we did not incur $2.2 million in charges related to the one-time May 2015 special meeting of the shareholders 

and related transaction costs; 

•  we incurred fewer charges related to bonus and retention payments of $1.2 million; 

•  we paid $1.1 million less in severance to former officers and employees in the current year; and 

•  we paid $0.8 million less in accounting and compliance services related to implementing a new general ledger 

system, audit and equity compliance; 

These changes were partially offset by an increase in 2016 of corporate legal expenses and charges related to the 

Redomicile Transaction of $3.3 million. 

 

Income tax expense 

 

Income tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2016 and 2015 was immaterial, due to our having established a 

full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets.  

 

Year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended December 31, 2014  

REVENUE FROM COLLABORATIONS 

 

Our clinical programs consist of the following categories: Proprietary, which includes the development of Emixustat 

under the terms of the Emixustat Agreement; and In-Licensed, which included the co-development of Rebamipide, Otsuka's 

proprietary compound for treatment of dry eye under the terminated Rebamipide Agreement and development of OPA-6566 

under the terms of the OPA-6566 Agreement.  

The following table presents revenues for clinical programs (in thousands, except percentages):  

 Year Ended December 31,  
2014 to 2015 

$ Change  
2014 to 2015 

% Change  2015  2014  

Emixustat $ 24,064   $ 35,364   $ (11,300 )  (32.0 )% 

Rebamipide —   25   (25 )  (100.0 )% 

OPA-6566 3   7   (4 )  (57.1 )% 

Total $ 24,067   $ 35,396   $ (11,329 )  (32.0 )% 

Proprietary    

Emixustat.  Revenues from clinical programs under the Emixustat Agreement decreased by $11.3 million for 2015, 

or 32.0%, as compared to the prior year. The decrease in revenue for 2015 was primarily due to fewer billable activities related 

to Emixustat, as compared to the prior year.  In the fourth quarter of 2015, we were in negotiations with Otsuka regarding the 

amount of indirect cost applicable in 2015.  This negotiation resulted in a settlement of approximately $2.6 million, which was 

issued as a credit to Otsuka for development expenses that had been recognized as revenue in 2015 and has been recorded as a 

reduction to revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015. 

In-Licensed  

Rebamipide.   Our clinical program related to Otsuka's proprietary compound for potential treatment of dry eye, 

which was the subject of the now-terminated Rebamipide Agreement between us and Otsuka, was terminated in 2013. We also 

do not expect to generate any revenue from the collaboration related to OPA-6566 in the future.  
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OPERATING EXPENSES 

Research and development 

In addition to expenses incurred in connection with our Proprietary and In-Licensed clinical programs, we also incur 

costs and expenses associated with our internal research activities related primarily to our VCM compounds.  By program, our 

research and development expenses were as follows (in thousands, except percentages): 

 Year Ended December 31,  
2014 to 2015 

$ Change  
2014 to 2015 

% Change  2015  2014  

Emixustat $ 21,060   $ 24,509   $ (3,449 )  (14.1 )% 

Internal Research 1,575   1,050   525   50.0 % 

Rebamipide —   15   (15 )  (100.0 )% 

OPA-6566 1   8   (7 )  (87.5 )% 

Total $ 22,636   $ 25,582   $ (2,946 )  (11.5 )% 

Proprietary     

Emixustat. Research and development expense related to clinical programs under the Emixustat Agreement 

decreased $3.4 million for 2015 or 14.1%, as compared to the prior year.  The decrease was primarily due to fewer clinical 

activities related to our Emixustat clinical trials. 

In-Licensed   

Rebamipide. Due to the termination of the Rebamipide Agreement with Otsuka in 2013 and the results of the Phase 

1/2 clinical study evaluating OPA-6566 in 2012, we do not expect to incur any research and development expenses related to 

this program. 

Internal Research.  Research and development expenses incurred through our internal research activities for 2015 

increased by approximately 50.0% as compared to the prior year, mainly due to increased internal research activities related to 

our VCM compounds as a result of implementation of our strategic plan.  

General and administrative 

 Year Ended December 31,  
2014 to 2015 

$ Change  
2014 to 2015 

% Change  2015  2014  

General and administrative $ 27,987   $ 10,002   $ 17,985   179.8 % 

General and administrative expenses increased $18.0 million during 2015 compared to the prior year primarily due 

to the following one-time expenses related to our changes in management during 2015: 

•  approximately $8.4 million of stock-based compensation expense mostly related to the accelerated vesting of 

awards, of which $5.0 million was attributable to our former CEO, $2.0 million to our former COO, and $0.6 

million to former vice presidents.  We also granted equity awards to existing employees in place of a previously 

announced cash retention bonus pool; 

•  approximately $2.1 million paid out as severance to former officers and employees;  

•  approximately $1.5 million attributable to legal and consulting expenses related to our May 2015 special 

shareholders meeting;  

•  approximately $0.8 million in payments made to Dr. Kubota and SBI Holdings, Inc. to reimburse such parties in 

connection with costs and expenses incurred in connection with our May 2015 special meeting of shareholders; 

•  approximately $1.1 million in bonus payments made during the year of which $0.8 million related to employee 

retention and equity equalization programs and $0.3 million to signing bonuses for new executives; 
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•  approximately $1.0 million attributable to accounting and compliance services related to implementing a new 

general ledger system, audit and equity compliance; 

•  approximately $1.3 million related to our internal audit function and implementation of our new enterprise risk 

management system; and 

•  approximately $0.8 million in additional office rent in connection with our move to new corporate headquarters 

plus an overlap of lease payments for both our new and old corporate headquarters during the first quarter of 

2015 and remaining expenses related to increased accrued payroll, recruiting, and legal. 

 

Income tax expense 

 

Income tax expense for 2015 decreased by approximately $2.3 million from approximately $2.4 million for the prior 

year due to recognition of a full valuation allowance against our deferred tax assets during 2014 due to expected future losses as 

a result of our new strategic plan. The valuation allowance was established to recognize that it is more likely than not that the 

deferred tax assets will expire before we are able to realize their benefits or the future deductibility is uncertain.  Effective tax 

rates for 2015 and 2014 were (0.2)% and 667.7%, respectively.  The difference between the U.S. federal statutory rate of 34.0% 

and our effective tax rates in 2015 was due primarily to the provision of a full valuation allowance related to our net operating 

loss and to deferred tax assets for which we do not anticipate future realization and permanent differences in book and tax 

earnings for stock options, meals and entertainment, and other miscellaneous items. 

 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

Cash and cash equivalents include all short-term, highly liquid investments with an original maturity date of three 

months or less as of the date of purchase.  Cash equivalents consist of money market funds.  Investments with maturities 

between three months and one year at the date of purchase are classified as short-term investments. Short-term investments are 

comprised of corporate debt securities, commercial paper, US government agency securities, and certificates of deposit. 

As of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, we had cash, cash equivalents and investments of $141.3 million 

and $166.5 million, respectively.  Amounts on deposit with third-party financial institutions may exceed the US Federal Deposit 

Insurance Corporation and the Securities Investor Protection Corporation insurance limits, as applicable.  

We believe that our existing cash, cash equivalents and investment balances will be sufficient to fund our ongoing 

operating activities, working capital, capital expenditures and other capital requirements for at least the next 12 months. Our 

future capital requirements will depend on many factors, including the expansion of our research and development activities 

and our ability to successfully in-license or acquire additional technologies. Other than our exclusive option to purchase the 

assets related to our collaboration agreement with EyeMedics, which option has not been exercised, we are not currently a party 

to any agreement or letter of intent regarding potential investments in, or acquisitions of, complementary businesses, 

applications or technologies.  We may enter into these types of arrangements, which could require us to seek additional equit y 

or debt financing. 

The following table shows a summary of our cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 (in 

thousands): 

 Year Ended December 31, 

 2016  2015  2014 

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities $ (27,526 )  $ (16,871 )  $ 9,442  

Cash flows provided by (used in) investing activities 28,022   4,341   (152,932 ) 

Cash flows provided by (used in) financing activities 3,365   (1,160 )  148,274  

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,861   (13,690 )  4,784  

Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period 5,088   18,778   13,994  

Cash and cash equivalents—end of period $ 8,949   $ 5,088   $ 18,778  
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Cash Flows from Operating Activities 

Net cash used in operating activities was $27.5 million and $16.9 million for 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Net cash 

provided by operating activities was $9.4 million for 2014.   

The change in net cash used in operating activities from 2015 to 2016 related to an increase of $0.4 million in cash 

payments for operating expenses and a decrease of $10.2 million in cash collections of accounts receivable from collaborations. 

During 2014, the net cash provided by operating activities related to an increase of $46.6 million in cash collections 

of accounts receivable from collaborations and a decrease of $37.2 million in cash payments for operating expenses. 

 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities 

Net cash provided by investing activities was $28.0 million and $4.3 million for 2016 and 2015, respectively.  Net 

cash used in investing activities was $152.9 million for 2014.  Net cash inflows increased from 2015 to 2016 primarily due to 

an increase of $27.7 million in maturities of marketable securities held as available for sale offset by an increase of $4.3 million 

in purchases of marketable securities available for sale. Net cash used in investing activities for 2014 was primarily a result of 

the purchase of marketable securities from the proceeds of Acucela US's IPO in February 2014. 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 

Net cash provided by financing activities was $3.4 million for 2016.  During 2016, cash inflows from financing 

activities was primarily the result of $11.4 million of proceeds related to the issuance of common stock related to current and 

former employees exercising their stock options during the year.  This was partially offset by $8.0 million related to employee 

tax withholdings for equity awards.  Net cash used by financing activities was $1.2 million for 2015, which related to employee 

tax withholdings for equity awards.  Net cash provided by financing activities was $148.3 million for 2014 which was primarily 

due to the proceeds of Acucela US's IPO.   

 

Contractual Obligations and Commitments  

The following is a summary of our contractual obligations as of December 31, 2016 (in thousands):  

 Payments Due by Period 

 1 year  1-3 years  3-5 years  
More than 

5 years  Total 

Operating lease obligations $ 1,051   $ 1,975   $ 2,040   $ —   $ 5,066  

Total $ 1,051   $ 1,975   $ 2,040   $ —   $ 5,066  

 

On January 12, 2017, Acucela US entered into a Zillow Sublease pursuant to which Zillow will sublease from 

Acucela US all 38,723 square feet of the Seattle Premises. The Zillow Sublease commences on May 1, 2017 and will continue 

until the expiration of the Acucela Sublease on February 28, 2022, unless Boeing earlier terminates the Acucela Sublease on 

November 30, 2021. For the first three months of the term of the Zillow Sublease, Acucela US will remain responsible for 

payment of rent to the Boeing Company. 

 

On January 4, 2017, Acucela US entered into an amendment to the Lease Agreement by and between Acucela and 

Nexus dated February 13, 2006, or the Bothell Lease.  Pursuant to the terms of the amendment, the term of the Bothell Lease 

was extended to February 28, 2020, subject to Acucela US’s right to extend the term for one additional two year period by 

written notice to Nexus given no earlier than 18 months and no later than 12 months prior to February 28, 2020. 

 

The foregoing table does not reflect the impact of the Zillow Sublease and the Bothell lease amendment.  For more 

information, see the section of the Annual Report on Form10-K for the year ended December 31, 2016 titled “Properties.” 
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Severance 

Mr. Roger Girard, our former Chief Strategy Officer, ceased to be an employee on July 10, 2016.  In July 11, 2016, 

we entered into a Separation Agreement and Release with Mr. Girard, which entitles him to receive continuing payments at a 

rate equal to his annual base salary for a period of nine months from his termination date, up to nine months of health benefit 

coverage under our COBRA program, an incentive bonus equal to 50% of nine months of his base salary in effect on his 

termination date and nine months of vesting on his Acucela US RSUs, from his termination date.  As of December 31, 2016, we 

paid severance of $0.2 million, and accrued severance of $0.2 million to our former Chief Strategy Officer, which is due to be 

paid through April 2017.  In addition, we incurred $0.5 million of stock compensation expense related to the accelerated vesting 

of his Acucela US RSUs.  All remaining unvested Acucela US RSUs were forfeited. 

 

On July 9, 2016, we entered into a Separation Agreement and Release with George Lasezkay, our former Executive 

Vice President, General Counsel.  The Separation Agreement and Release agreement entitles him to receive continuing 

payments at a rate equal to his annual base salary for a period of nine months from his termination date, up to nine months of 

health benefit coverage under our COBRA program, an incentive bonus equal to 35% of nine months of his base salary in effect 

on his termination date and nine months of vesting on his Acucela US RSUs, from his termination date.  As of December  31, 

2016, we paid $0.1 million and accrued severance of $0.2 million to our former Executive Vice President, General Counsel, 

which is due to be paid through April 2017. In addition, we incurred $0.2 million of stock compensation expense related to his 

accelerated RSUs. All remaining unvested RSUs were forfeited. 

 

During 2016, we paid $0.6 million in severance related to our former employees which are due to be paid through 

April 2017.  

Contingently Repayable Advances  

Pursuant to the terms of the Emixustat Agreement, Otsuka agreed to advance funds to us, which are secured by an 

interest in our net profits and royalty payments and in our entire interests in ownership of the related Emixustat compound and 

its backup compounds, certain pharmaceutical formulations developed under the Emixustat Agreement that contain one of 

those compounds, and the underlying intellectual property rights. Amounts previously had been advanced under this 

arrangement only to fund our share of development costs under the Emixustat Agreement, and such advances bear interest at 

the three month LIBOR rate plus three percent. These advances are exclusively payable out of:  

 

•  50% of either our share of net profits, as described in the Emixustat Agreement, generated from collaboration 

product sales in North America or, if applicable, 50% of the royalty payable to us for those sales;  

•  50% of the net profits, as described in the Emixustat Agreement, we generate from collaboration product sales 

outside North America and Otsuka’s sole territory; and  

•  50% of the consideration, as described in the Emixustat Agreement, we receive from the sale or license of 

collaboration compounds and collaboration products developed under the agreement outside North America and 

Otsuka’s sole territory.  

The percentages above will increase to 75%, if we have not repaid the advances within five years of the first 

commercial sale of a product based on Emixustat in North America. There are no financial covenant requirements under our 

arrangement with Otsuka.  Outstanding advances remain unchanged during the year at $64.0 million for both periods ended 

December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.   There was accumulated interest of $7.2 million and $4.6 million under this 

arrangement as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, respectively.  

Off-Balance Sheet Transactions 

 

To date, we have not had any relationships with unconsolidated entities or financial partnerships, such as entities 

referred to as structured finance or special purpose entities, which are established for the purpose of facilitating off-balance 

sheet arrangements or other contractually narrow or limited purposes. 



 

24 

Beginning in 2011, we shared the development costs under the Emixustat Agreement, with Otsuka funding our share 

of these development costs, subject to our agreement to repay them from our share of the profits, if any, or sale or licensing 

proceeds, if any, from the commercialization of Emixustat. Through December 31, 2016 and 2015, we recognized cumulative 

revenue of approximately $64.6 million and $61.5 million, respectively, under the agreement as described above. 

 

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk 

 

We are exposed to financial market risks, including changes in the market values of our debt investments and 

interest rates. 
 

Financial market risk:  Our exposure to financial market risk results primarily from interest rate changes on our 

investments in debt securities. We do not invest in financial instruments or their derivatives for trading or speculative purposes. 

The three primary goals that guide our investment decisions, with the first being the most important, are: preservation of 

principal, fulfillment of liquidity needs, and balancing pre-tax return and portfolio risk. These objectives are achieved through 

specific guidelines around maturity parameters, credit quality and allowable investments. Our investment portfolio as of 

December 31, 2016 was well-diversified and included corporate debt securities, U.S. government agency securities, certificates 

of deposits and money market funds. We consider the market value, default, and liquidity risks of our investments to be low as 

of December 31, 2016.   
 

Interest rate risk:  We continually review our investments in debt securities in order to ensure our portfolio is 

appropriately balanced as part of our overall interest rate risk management strategy, and through this process we consider both 

short-term and long-term factors in the U.S. and global financial markets in making adjustments to our tolerable exposure to 

interest rate risk.  As of December 31, 2016, all of the debt securities that we held were fixed-rate earning instruments that carry 

a degree of interest rate risk. Fixed-rate securities may have their fair market value adversely impacted due to a rise in interest 

rates. We may suffer losses in principal if we are forced to sell securities that have declined in market value due to changes in 

interest rates. As of December 31, 2016, our cash and cash equivalents of $8.9 million were primarily held in money market 

funds; our short-term investment balances of $113.4 million were held in corporate debt securities and certificates of deposit; 

and our long-term investment balances of $19.0 million were held in certificates of deposit, corporate debt securities and U.S. 

government agency securities. We consider the interest rate risk for our cash equivalents and marketable fixed-income 

securities held as of December 31, 2016 to be low. A hypothetical increase in interest rates of 1% as of December 31, 2016 

would result in an adverse change in the fair value of our investment portfolio of approximately $0.7 million. For further detail 

on our cash, cash equivalent and investment holdings, please see “Note 4: Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments” of the 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements in this annual report.   

 

Foreign currency risk: Payments by Acucela US, the subsidiary, on behalf of Kubota Holdings, the parent company, 

may occasionally be made in U.S. dollars.  Accordingly, changes in exchange rates, and in particular a strengthening of the U.S. 

dollar, may result in unrealized foreign exchange losses when payments to vendors are re-measured into Japanese yen. We 

consider any foreign currency risk to be low.  Unrealized foreign exchange losses are eliminated in consolidation.  
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Directors and Executive Officers  

 

Executive Officers of the Registrant 

  

The names of our executive officers, their ages as of December 31, 2016, and their positions are shown below. 

 

Name   Occupation 

Dr. Ryo Kubota, M.D., Ph.D.  

 

Chairman of the Board of Directors, 

President and Chief Executive Officer of 

Kubota Holdings and Acucela Inc. 
Edward Danse   Chief Business Officer of Acucela Inc. 

John Gebhart  
 
Chief Financial Officer of Kubota 

Holdings and Acucela Inc. 

Dr. Lukas Scheibler  
 
Executive Vice President of Research and 

Development of Acucela Inc. 

Directors 

  

The names of our directors, their ages and Board committee assignments as of December 31, 2016 are shown below. 

 

Name  Occupation 

Dr. Ryo Kubota, M.D., Ph.D.   

Chairman of the Board of Directors, 

President and Chief Executive Officer of 

Kubota Holdings and Acucela Inc. 

 

Shintaro Asako *
 
  

Chief Executive Officer and Chief 

Financial Officer of DeNA West 

 

Shiro Mita *   

President and Chief Executive Officer of 

M’s Science Corporation 

 

Eisaku Nakamura *   
Director and Corporate Auditor of 

Koinobori Associates Inc. 

 

Robert Takeuchi
 * 

  President of RT Consulting, Inc.  

*      Non-employee director 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 

 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. 

 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. as of 

December 31, 2016, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, shareholders’ equity, and cash 

flows for the year ended December 31, 2016. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 

 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 

(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that 

our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position 

of Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. at December 31, 2016, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the 

year ended December 31, 2016, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United 

States), Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd.'s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2016, based 

on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated March 15, 2017 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

 

 

/s/ BDO Sanyu & Co. 

 

 

Tokyo, Japan 

March 15, 2017 
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Report of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

 

 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. 

 

 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheet of Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. 

(formerly Acucela Inc.) as of December 31, 2015, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, 

shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2015. These financial 

statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial 

statements based on our audits. 

 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board 

(United States). Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 

financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the 

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and 

significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that  

our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

 

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 

financial position of Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. (formerly Acucela Inc.) at December 31, 2015, and the 

consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the two years in the period ended December 31, 2015, in 

conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

 

 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

 

 

Seattle, Washington 

March 10, 2016 
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KUBOTA PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS CO., LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(in thousands) 

 December 31,  December 31, 

 2016  2015 

    
Assets    
Current assets:    

Cash and cash equivalents $ 8,949   $ 5,088  

Investments 113,365   106,922  

Accounts receivable from collaborations 2,055   6,140  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets 2,950   2,051  

Total current assets 127,319   120,201  

Property and equipment, net 770   920  

Long-term investments 18,975   54,515  

Other assets 319   314  

Total assets $ 147,383   $ 175,950  

Liabilities and shareholders’ equity    
Current liabilities:    

Accounts payable $ 439   $ 207  

Accrued liabilities 1,726   3,138  

Accrued compensation 2,295   2,457  

Deferred revenue from collaborations —   2,467  

Deferred rent and lease incentives 153   143  

Total current liabilities 4,613   8,412  

Commitments and contingencies    
Long-term deferred rent, lease incentives, and others 953   1,104  

Total long-term liabilities 953   1,104  

Shareholders’ equity:    
Common stock, no par value, 151,358 and 100,000 shares authorized as of December 31, 2016 

and 2015; 37,878 and 36,517 shares issued and outstanding as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, 

respectively 207,449 

 

 197,984 

 

Accumulated other comprehensive loss (132 )  (575 ) 

Accumulated deficit (65,500 )  (30,975 ) 

Total shareholders’ equity 141,817   166,434  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 147,383   $ 175,950  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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KUBOTA PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS CO., LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(in thousands, except per share data) 

 

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2016  2015  2014 

      

Revenue from collaborations $ 7,606   $ 24,067   $ 35,396  

Expenses:      

Research and development 20,707   22,636   25,582  

General and administrative 22,895   27,987   10,002  

Total expenses 43,602   50,623   35,584  

Loss from operations (35,996 )  (26,556 )  (188 ) 

Other income (expense), net:      

Interest income 1,408   1,117   519  

Interest expense —   —   (15 ) 

Other income (expense), net 64   (20 )  37  

Total other income, net 1,472   1,097   541  

Income (loss) before income tax (34,524 )  (25,459 )  353  

Income tax expense (1 )  (50 )  (2,359 ) 

Net loss $ (34,525 )  $ (25,509 )  $ (2,006 ) 

Net loss per share      

Basic $ (0.92 )  $ (0.71 )  $ (0.06 ) 

Diluted $ (0.92 )  $ (0.71 )  $ (0.06 ) 

Weighted average shares used to compute loss per share 
     

Basic 37,417   35,972   32,869  

Diluted 37,417   35,972   32,869  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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KUBOTA PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS CO., LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(in thousands) 

 

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2016  2015  2014 

Net loss $ (34,525 )  $ (25,509 )  $ (2,006 ) 

Other comprehensive income (loss):      

Net unrealized gain (loss) on securities, net of tax 443   (214 )  (354 ) 

Comprehensive loss $ (34,082 )  $ (25,723 )  $ (2,360 ) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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KUBOTA PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS CO., LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 

(in thousands) 

 

         Accumulated 

Other  

Comprehensive  

Loss  
Accumulated 

Deficit  Total 

 Convertible 

Preferred Stock 
 Common Stock  

 Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  

Balance at December 31, 2013 32,441   $ 28,209   11,971   $ 6,382   $ (7 )  $ (3,460 )  $ 31,124  

Common stock issued in connection with IPO offering, net of issuance costs of $7,093     9,200   142,044   —   —   142,044  

Common stock issued in connection with conversion of convertible preferred stock upon 
IPO 

(32,441 )  (28,209 )  10,814 

 

 28,209 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

 — 

 

Common stock issued in connection with conversion of contingently convertible notes upon 
IPO — 

 
 — 

 
 3,636 

 
 12,000 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 12,000 

 

Stock-based compensation —   —   —   516   —   —   516  

Excess net tax benefit related to IPO costs —   —   —   421   —   —   421  

Excess net tax provision related to share-based awards —   —   —   (64 )  —   —   (64 ) 

Common stock issued in connection with stock option exercises —   —   188   682   —   —   682  

Net loss —   —   —   —   —   (2,006 )  (2,006 ) 

Unrealized loss on marketable securities available for sale —   —   —   —   (354 )  —   (354 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2014 —   —   35,809   190,190   (361 )  (5,466 )  184,363  

Stock-based compensation —   —   —   8,940   —   —   8,940  

Issuance of restricted shares of common stock —   —   904   —   —   —   —  

RSUs withheld for employee payroll taxes —   —   (207 )  (1,165 )  —   —   (1,165 ) 

Common stock issued in connection with stock option exercises —   —   11   5   —   —   5  

Excess net tax benefit related to IPO costs —   —   —   14   —   —   14  

Net loss —   —   —   —   —   (25,509 )  (25,509 ) 

Unrealized loss on marketable securities available for sale —   —   —   —   (214 )  —   (214 ) 

Balance at December 31, 2015 —   —   36,517   197,984   (575 )  (30,975 )  166,434  

Stock-based compensation —   —   —   5,945   —   —   5,945  

Issuance of restricted shares of common stock —   —   397   —   —   —   —  

RSUs withheld for employee payroll taxes —   —   (282 )  (4,565 )  —   —   (4,565 ) 

Common stock issued in connection with stock option exercises (net of $3,469 withheld for 
payroll taxes) — 

 
 — 

 
 1,246 

 
 8,116 

 
 — 

 
 — 

 
 8,116 

 

Excess net tax provision related to share-based awards —   —   —   (31 )  —   —   (31 ) 

Net loss —   —   —   —   —   (34,525 )  (34,525 ) 

Unrealized gain on marketable securities available for sale —   —   —   —   443   —   443  

Balance at December 31, 2016 —   —   37,878   $ 207,449   $ (132 )  $ (65,500 )  $ 141,817  

 

 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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KUBOTA PHARMACEUTICAL HOLDINGS CO., LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

(in thousands) 

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2016  2015  2014 

  

Cash flows from operating activities      

Net loss $ (34,525 )  $ (25,509 )  $ (2,006 ) 

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:      

Depreciation and amortization 296   381   501  

Stock-based compensation 5,945   8,940   516  

Amortization, net, of premium/discount on marketable securities 1,199   2,290   1,175  

Deferred taxes —   103   2,349  

Excess net tax provision related to share-based awards —   —   (64 ) 

Loss on disposal of fixed assets 1   30   —  

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:      

Accounts receivable from collaborations 4,085   (855 )  4,977  

Prepaid expenses and other current assets (572 )  815   401  

Accounts payable 232   (234 )  (313 ) 

Accrued liabilities (1,412 )  (1,038 )  (2,403 ) 

Accrued compensation (162 )  774   (1,586 ) 

Deferred rent and lease incentives (141 )  1,075   (250 ) 

Deferred revenue from collaborations (2,467 )  (3,764 )  6,231  

Other assets (5 )  121   (86 ) 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (27,526 )  (16,871 )  9,442  

Cash flows from investing activities      

Purchases of marketable securities available for sale (90,933 )  (86,590 )  (201,732 ) 

Maturities of marketable securities available for sale 119,102   91,420   48,931  

Net additions to property and equipment (147 )  (489 )  (131 ) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 28,022   4,341   (152,932 ) 

Cash flows from financing activities      

Value of equity awards withheld for tax liability (8,034 )  (1,177 )  —  

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 11,399   17   149,819  

Payments for deferred offering costs —   —   (1,545 ) 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 3,365   (1,160 )  148,274  

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 3,861   (13,690 )  4,784  

Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period 5,088   18,778   13,994  

Cash and cash equivalents—end of period $ 8,949   $ 5,088   $ 18,778  

Supplemental disclosure      

Cash paid for income taxes $ —   $ —   $ 60  

Unpaid deferred offering costs —   —   5,548  

Conversion of convertible preferred stock upon IPO —   —   28,209  

Conversion of contingently convertible debt, related party, upon IPO —   —   12,000  

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 
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1. Business and Basis of Presentation 

Business  

Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. is a clinical stage ophthalmology company that is committed to 

translating innovation into a diverse portfolio of drugs and devices to preserve and restore vision for millions worldwide.  We 

have a broad product candidate portfolio of multiple technologies in the preclinical and clinical development stages intended to 

provide solutions to ophthalmic disorders affecting millions of people worldwide.  We are pursuing development of our product 

candidates for debilitating diseases such as diabetic retinopathy/diabetic macular edema, cataract, retinitis pigmentosa, 

Stargardt disease, and age-related macular degeneration.   As part of our mobile Health application initiatives, we are also 

developing technologies intended to detect nascent disease progression to improve treatment outcome in patients with wet age-

related macular degeneration, diabetic macular edema and other neovascular retinal diseases.  References in this document to 

the "Company,", "we", "our" and "us" refer to Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries, including 

Acucela Inc. 

 

Redomicile Transaction 

 

On December 1, 2016 Japan Standard Time, we completed a corporate reorganization resulting in the change in 

corporate domicile, pursuant to which Kubota Pharmaceutical Holdings Co., Ltd., a company organized under the laws of 

Japan, or Kubota Holdings, became the publicly traded parent company of Acucela Inc., a Washington corporation, or Acucela 

US. The change in domicile, or the Redomicile Transaction, was effected pursuant to an Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated 

as of August 9, 2016, by and among Acucela US, Acucela North America Inc., a Washington corporation and wholly-owned 

subsidiary of Kubota Holdings, or US Merger Co, and Kubota Holdings. At the effective time of the merger, (1) Acucela US 

was merged with US Merger Co, with US Merger Co surviving the merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Kubota Holdings 

and was renamed Acucela Inc., and (2) each issued and outstanding share of common stock of Acucela US, or Acucela US 

Common Stock, was cancelled and converted into the right to receive one share of Kubota Holdings common stock, or Kubota 

Holdings Common Stock.  An aggregate of approximately 37.8 million shares of Kubota Holdings Common Stock was 

delivered pursuant to the Redomicile Transaction prior to the listing of Kubota Holdings Common Stock on the Mothers market 

of the Tokyo Stock Exchange, or TSE, under the code “4596.” 

 

Kubota Holdings is the successor registrant to Acucela US pursuant to Rule 12g-3(a) under the Securities Exchange 

Act of 1934, as amended.  The authorized number of shares as of December 31, 2016 represents the number of authorized 

shares of Kubota Holdings.  The authorized number of shares as of December 31, 2015 represents the number of authorized 

shares of Acucela US.  

 

Basis of Presentation  

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned 

subsidiaries, Acucela Inc. and Kubota Ophthalmics Co., Ltd. Intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated. In 

the opinion of the Company’s management, the consolidated financial statements reflect all adjustments, which are normal and 

recurring in nature, necessary for fair financial statement presentation.  The preparation of these consolidated financial 

statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes.  Actual results 

could differ materially from those estimates.  
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 As the Company’s common stock is without par value, the Company has re-classified its prior year presentation of 

additional paid-in capital to conform with the current year presentation of common stock.  

 

Segments 

We operate in one segment, pharmaceutical product development. All of our significant assets are located in the 

United States. During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, all revenue was generated in the United States. 

 

 

2. Significant Accounting Policies 

Revenue Recognition 

One of our business strategies is to enter into collaboration agreements with pharmaceutical companies for the 

development and commercialization of product candidates. The terms of the agreements may include nonrefundable license 

fees, funding of research and development activities, payments based upon achievement of development milestones, payments 

based upon achievement of regulatory and revenue milestones, and product sales or royalties on product sales. We recognize 

revenue when four basic criteria have been met: (a) persuasive evidence of an arrangement exists; (b) services are rendered; 

(c) the fee is fixed or determinable; and (d) collectability is reasonably assured.  Amounts received prior to satisfying these 

criteria are recorded as deferred revenue. 

Revenue recognized for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014 consists entirely of amounts derived 

from our collaboration agreements with Otsuka (See "Note 9: Collaboration and License Agreements" in the Notes to the 

Consolidated Financial Statements in this document). 

Multiple Element Arrangements 

Our collaboration agreements with Otsuka were multiple element arrangements which were analyzed to identify 

whether the deliverables included in the agreements qualify as separate units of accounting. We determined that the activities 

associated with development met the criterion for a separate unit of accounting, since these services had value to Otsuka on a 

standalone basis. Best estimate of the selling price, or BESP, is based on our analysis of the value of the services provided and 

consideration of the fees charged by third party vendors for similar development services. We determined that the fees charged 

for the research services are competitive with the price other third-party vendors charge for similar research services. There 

were no rights of return in our collaboration agreements. Payments that are contingent upon the occurrence of future events that 

are not exclusively within our control are excluded from the allocable arrangement consideration until the contingency is 

resolved.  

Revenue from development efforts is recognized as services are incurred by third-parties. Revenue earned by full-

time or part-time salaried employees is recognized using a proportional performance model based on hours worked. When we 

are able to estimate the total amount of services under a unit of accounting and such performance obligations are provided on a 

best-efforts basis, revenue is recognized using a proportional performance model. Costs incurred to date compared to total 

expected costs are used to determine proportional performance, as this is considered to be representative of the delivery of 

outputs. Significant judgment is required in determining the level of effort required and the period over which we are expected 

to complete our performance obligations under each unit of accounting.  

Deferred Revenue 

Amounts received prior to satisfying the above revenue recognition criteria are recorded as deferred revenue. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments  
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We consider investments in highly liquid instruments purchased with an original maturity at purchase of three 

months or less to be cash equivalents. The amounts are recorded at cost, which approximates fair value. Our cash equivalents 

consist of cash and money market funds. 

We have classified our entire investment portfolio, which consists of corporate debt securities, commercial paper, 

securities issued by U.S. government agencies and certificates of deposit, as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are 

stated at fair value as of each balance sheet date based on market quotes, and unrealized gains and losses are reflected as a net 

amount under the caption of accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). Premiums or discounts arising at acquisition are 

amortized into earnings.  

We periodically evaluate whether declines in fair values of our investments below their cost are other-than-

temporary. This evaluation consists of several qualitative and quantitative factors regarding the severity and duration of the 

unrealized loss, as well as whether it is more likely than not that we will hold the investment until recovery of its amortized cost 

basis. Realized gains and losses are calculated using the specific identification method. Realized gains and losses and declines 

in value judged to be other-than-temporary are recorded within the statements of income under the caption other income 

(expense).  

We consider an investment with a maturity greater than 12 months from the balance sheet date as long-term and with 

a maturity less than 12 months from the balance sheet date as short-term.  

 

Concentration of Credit Risk  

Our accounts receivable, as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, consist of amounts due from our 

collaborations with Otsuka. There was no allowance for doubtful accounts for the periods presented, as we believe all 

outstanding amounts will be paid based on our contractual arrangements with Otsuka and history of successful collections 

thereunder and collateral is not required.  

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, less accumulated depreciation. We provide for depreciation of 

equipment on a straight-line basis over an estimated useful life of five years, except leasehold improvements which are 

amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term or estimated useful life of the assets.  The estimated useful 

lives of major classes of depreciable assets are as follows: 

Laboratory and computer equipment 5 years 

Leasehold improvements 2-7 years 

Office furniture and equipment 5 years 

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred. 

Long-lived assets held for use are subject to an impairment assessment whenever events or changes in circumstances 

indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. If the carrying value is no longer recoverable based upon the 

undiscounted future cash flows of the asset, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the carrying amount and 

the fair value of the asset. We have recorded no impairment charges for the periods presented. 

Fair Value  

We measure and report at fair value our cash equivalents and investment securities. Fair value is defined as the 

exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to transfer a liability, an exit price, in the principal or most 

advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date. 
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Valuation techniques used to measure fair value maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable 

inputs.  

The carrying amounts reflected in the balance sheets for accounts receivable and accounts payable approximate fair 

value due to their short-term nature.  

Stock-Based Compensation  

Stock-based compensation cost is estimated at the grant date based on the award’s fair value and is recognized on a 

straight line basis as expense, less estimated forfeitures, over the requisite service period, which is generally the vesting period.  

The fair value of stock options under our outstanding equity awards is calculated using the Black-Scholes option 

pricing model. This model requires us to make assumptions to determine expected risk-free interest rates, stock price volatility, 

dividend yield, and weighted-average option term. We recognize stock-based compensation expense over the period from the 

date of grant to the date when the award is no longer contingent on either the employee providing additional services to the 

Company or the market price of the Company’s common stock reaching a certain level, for a specified minimum period of time 

(the vesting period).  Any unexercised options expire in five to ten years. We estimate the fair value of each grant as a single 

award and amortize that value on a straight-line basis into compensation expense over the option’s vesting period.  The 

Company also utilizes a forfeiture rate of 10% which is embedded in our compensation expense.  Once terminations occurs, the 

Company records the actual forfeiture credits against expense incurred to date.  

The fair value of restricted stock units and restricted stock awards is equal to the market price of Kubota Holdings' 

stock on the date of grant.   We amortize that value on a straight line basis into compensation expense, over the restricted 

share’s vesting period.  

Research and Development Costs  

Research and development costs include salaries paid to clinical development staff and scientists, fees paid to 

external service providers and to contract research organizations to conduct research and development activities.  Costs may 

also include laboratory supplies, license fees, consulting, travel, fees paid to third parties involved in research and development 

activities, and an allocated portion of certain general operating costs, including facility and information technology costs.  

These research and development costs are expensed as incurred. 

Non-refundable advance payments related to research and development collaboration agreements are currently 

expensed as incurred as there is no assurance that the pre-clinical compounds will be used or rendered for future research and 

development. If collaboration projects have not yet begun to incur research and development expenses, we will record the non-

refundable advance as a prepayment until such time as we may begin to expense as incurred. We will evaluate each reporting 

period whether non-refundable fees show characteristics that will be used or rendered for future research and development 

pursuant to an executory contractual arrangement. At such point, we may then decide to defer and capitalize these payments.   

We expense payments to acquire contractual rights to licensed technology as incurred, when the future economic 

benefit may be foreseen, but cannot be measured with any degree of certainty.  

Refundable advance payments are recorded as a refundable deposit.  In the event the fee becomes nonrefundable, it 

is capitalized or expensed, based on the certainty of any future economic benefit. 

Income Taxes  

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of events that have already 

been recognized in the financial statements or tax returns. Excess tax benefits associated with stock option exercises and other 

equity awards are credited to shareholders' equity. Deferred tax liabilities and assets are based on the difference between 

financial statement carrying amounts and the tax basis of assets and liabilities, operating loss, and tax credit carryforwards and 

are measured using enacted tax rates expected to be in effect in the years the differences or carryforwards are anticipated to be 
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recovered or settled. A valuation allowance is established when we believe that it is more likely than not that benefits of the 

deferred tax assets will not be realized. 

 During 2016, the Company adopted an accounting standard that simplified the presentation of deferred income 

taxes by requiring deferred tax assets and liabilities be classified as noncurrent in a classified statement of financial position.  

The Company has adopted this accounting standard prospectively; accordingly, the prior period amounts in the Company’s 

consolidated balance sheets within this Annual Report on Form 10-K were not adjusted to conform to the new accounting 

standard. The adoption of this accounting standard was not material to the Company’s consolidated financial statements. 

Foreign Currency Translation 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned 

subsidiaries, Acucela Inc. and Kubota Ophthalmics Co., Ltd. The functional currency of the Company and Kubota Ophthalmics 

Co., Ltd. is the Japanese yen and the functional currency of Acucela Inc. is the U.S. dollar. Any realized and unrealized gains 

and losses are not significant as of December 31, 2016.  

3. Recent Accounting Pronouncements 

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board, or FASB, issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2014-

09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Topic 606 (ASU 2014-09), to supersede nearly all existing revenue recognition 

guidance under GAAP. The core principle of ASU 2014-09 is to recognize revenues when promised goods or services are 

transferred to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration that is expected to be received for those goods or services. 

ASU 2014-09 defines a five step process to achieve this core principle and, in doing so, it is possible more judgment and 

estimates may be required within the revenue recognition process than required under existing GAAP, including identifying 

performance obligations in the contract, estimating the amount of variable consideration to include in the transaction price and 

allocating the transaction price to each separate performance obligation. Adoption of ASU 2014-09 can be done using either of 

two methods: (i) retrospective to each prior reporting period presented with the option to elect certain practical expedients as 

defined within ASU 2014-09; or (ii) retrospective with the cumulative effect of initially applying ASU 2014-09 recognized at 

the date of initial application and providing certain additional disclosures as defined per ASU 2014-09.  In August 2015, FASB 

issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Deferral of the Effective Date: 

Topic 606 (ASU 2015-14) that deferred the effective date of ASU 2014-09 by one year. In April 2016, FASB issued Accounting 

Standards Update No. 2016-10 Revenue from Contracts with Customers - Identifying Performance Obligations and Licenses: 

Topic 606 (ASU 2016-10) that clarified accounting for licenses of intellectual property as well as identification of the distinct 

performance obligations of a contract. In May 2016, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-12 Revenue from 

Contracts with Customers - Narrow Scope Improvements and Practical Expedients: Topic 606 (ASU 2016-12) which did not 

change core principles but clarified the guidance on assessing collectability, presenting sales taxes, measuring non cash 

consideration, and certain transition matters.  Application of the new revenue standard, as amended, is required for annual 

reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2017, including interim periods within that reporting period. Earlier application 

is permitted only as of annual reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2016, including interim reporting periods within 

that reporting period. 

Following termination of the Company's collaboration agreements with Otsuka and completion of the wind-down 

period, we do not anticipate recognizing any future revenues under the Otsuka collaboration agreements. Currently, the 

Company is pursuing various partnering efforts and may generate revenue through future collaborations with strategic partners. 

If we enter revenue-generating agreements, we will evaluate the impact of adopting of ASU 2014-09. 

In February 2016, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases:  Topic 842 (ASU 2016-02).  

The new guidance is intended to increase transparency and comparability for organizations by recognizing lease assets and 

liabilities on the balance sheet and requiring additional financial disclosure on leasing arrangements.  This amendment is 

primarily designed to address lessee accounting for operating leases and require lessees to account for all leases as assets and 
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liabilities on the balance sheet.  Adoption of ASU 2016-02 is required for fiscal reporting periods beginning after December 15, 

2018 including interim reporting periods within those fiscal years.  We are currently evaluating the potential impact of the 

pending adoption of ASU 2016-02 on our consolidated financial statements.  

In March 2016, FASB issued Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-09, Compensation - Stock Compensation: 

Topic 718 (ASU 2016-09): Improvements to Employee Share Based Accounting.  The new guidance is intended to simplify the 

accounting for share based payment award transactions.  The amendments in the update include the following aspects for share 

based accounting:  accounting for income taxes, classification of excess tax benefits on the statement of cash flows, forfeitures, 

minimum statutory tax withholding requirements, and classification of employee taxes paid on the statement of cash flows 

when an employer withholds shares for tax withholding purposes.  Adoption of ASU 2016-09 is required for fiscal reporting 

periods beginning after December 15, 2016 including interim reporting periods within those fiscal years.  We do not anticipate 

that the adoption of ASU 2016-09 will result in a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.  

Other than noted above, we do not expect the adoption of recently issued accounting pronouncements to have a 

significant impact on our results of operations, financial position or cash flow.  

 

4. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Investments 

Under FASB Accounting Standards Codification Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, fair value is 

defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability, in an orderly transaction between 

market participants at the measurement date.  To increase the comparability of fair value measures, the following hierarchy 

prioritizes the inputs to valuation methodologies used to measure fair value: 

Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities,  

Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices for similar 

assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be 

corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities, and  

Level 3—Unobservable inputs in which there is little or no market data available, which requires us to develop our 

own assumptions.  

 

Cash, cash equivalents and investments at December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015 include all cash, money 

market funds, corporate debt securities, U.S. government agency securities, commercial paper and certificates of deposit.  We 

measure the fair value of money market funds based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. We 

consider our investments in corporate debt securities, U.S. government agency securities, commercial paper and certificates of 

deposit as available-for-sale. Available-for-sale securities are stated at fair value.  Available for sale securities were valued 

either based on recent trades in inactive markets or based on quoted market prices of similar instruments and other significant 

inputs derived from or corroborated by observable market data. We did not hold any financial instruments categorized as Level 

3 as of December 31, 2016 or December 31, 2015. 

 

 The following table presents information about our financial assets that have been measured at fair value on a 

recurring basis as of December 31, 2016 and December 31, 2015, and indicates the fair value hierarchy of the valuation inputs 

utilized to determine such fair value (in thousands): 
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 December 31, 2016 

 

Amortized Cost 

 Gross Unrealized  

Fair Value   Holding Gains  
Holding Losses < 

12 mos  
Holding Losses > 

12 mos  

Cash $ 2,633   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 2,633  

Level 1 Securities:          

Money market funds 6,316   —   —   —   6,316  

Level 2 Securities:          

Commercial Paper 25,988   1   (9 )  —   25,980  

U.S. government agencies 27,585   —   (19 )  (14 )  27,552  

Corporate debt securities 77,459   6   (48 )  (52 )  77,365  

Certificates of deposit 1,440   3   —   —   1,443  

 $ 141,421   $ 10   $ (76 )  $ (66 )  $ 141,289  

 

 December 31, 2015 

 

Amortized Cost 

 Gross Unrealized  

Fair Value   Holding Gains  
Holding Losses < 

12 mos  
Holding Losses 

> 12 mos  

Cash $ 3,856   $ —   $ —   $ —   $ 3,856  

Level 1 Securities:          

Money market funds 1,232   —   —   —   1,232  

Level 2 Securities:          

U.S. government agencies 10,020   —   (37 )  —   9,983  

Corporate debt securities 144,352   —   (435 )  (96 )  143,821  

Certificates of deposit 7,640   1   (7 )  (1 )  7,633  

 $ 167,100   $ 1   $ (479 )  $ (97 )  $ 166,525  

As of December 31, 2016, $13.2 million of corporate debt securities and $5.7 million of U.S. government agency 

securities, mature in greater than one year, but less than two years. All other investment securities held as of December 31, 2016 

mature within 12 months.  We do not intend to sell the investments and it is not more likely than not that we will be required to 

sell the investments before recovery of our amortized cost basis, which may be maturity. 

Market values were determined for each individual security in the investment portfolio. The declines in value of 

certain of these investments are primarily related to changes in interest rates and are considered to be temporary in nature. We 

evaluate, among other things, the duration and extent to which the fair value of a security is less than its cost, the financial 

condition of the issuer, and our intent to sell, or whether it is more likely than not we will be required to sell the security before 

recovery of the amortized cost basis. We do not consider these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired as of 

December 31, 2016. 

 

5. Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment as of December 31, 2016 and 2015 consist of the following (in thousands): 
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 December 31, 

 2016  2015 

Laboratory and computer equipment $ 2,921   $ 2,981  

Leasehold improvements 1,423   1,423  

Office furniture and equipment 497   366  

 4,841   4,770  

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (4,071 )  (3,850 ) 

Property and equipment, net $ 770   $ 920  

 

6. Shareholders’ Equity 

Common Stock 

On December 1, 2016 Japan Standard Time, we completed the Redomicile Transaction resulting in the change in 

corporate domicile, pursuant to which Kubota Holdings became the publicly traded parent company of Acucela Inc., a 

Washington corporation, or Acucela US. At the effective time of the merger, Acucela US was merged with Acucela North 

America Inc. and the merged company was renamed as Acucela Inc. Thereafter, each issued and outstanding share of Acucela 

US Common Stock was cancelled and converted into the right to receive one share of Kubota Holdings Common Stock.  

Kubota Holdings Common Stock is listed on the on the Mothers market of the Tokyo Stock Exchange, or TSE, under ticker 

symbol “4596.”  

 

In February 2014, upon the closing of the initial public offering, or IPO, of Acucela US, all shares of Acucela US's 

outstanding convertible preferred stock automatically converted into 10,813,867 shares of Acucela US Common Stock.  

Acucela US issued 9,200,000 shares of Acucela US Common Stock for aggregate proceeds of $142.0 million from the IPO, net 

of underwriters’ discounts and commissions and offering expenses.  In addition, upon the closing of the IPO, $12.0 million of 

outstanding principal underlying convertible notes that Acucela US issued to affiliates of SBI Holdings, Inc. in May 2006 

automatically converted into 3,636,365 shares of Acucela US Common Stock, after an intermediate conversion into Series C 

preferred shares.  The number of shares issued upon conversion was determined by dividing the principal amount of the notes 

by $3.30.  In connection with the Redomicile Transaction, each issued and outstanding share of Acucela US Common Stock 

was cancelled and converted into a right to receive one share of Kubota Holdings Common Stock. 

  

Changes in Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss (in thousands): 

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2016  2015  2014 

Beginning balance $ (575 )  $ (361 )  $ (7 ) 

Current period other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 443   (214 )  (354 ) 

Ending balance $ (132 )  $ (575 )  $ (361 ) 

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss relate to unrealized holding gains and losses in available-for-

sale securities. 

7. Share-Based Compensation 

Equity-Based Incentive Plans 

 

Prior to the Redomicile Transaction, employees held shares outstanding in both the 2002 Stock Option and 

Restricted Stock Plan, the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, hereafter called the 
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Acucela US Equity Plans. Upon closing of the Redomicile Transaction, the 2002 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan, the 

2012 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2014 Equity Incentive Plan of Acucela US were cancelled and the Kubota Pharmaceutical 

Holdings Co., Ltd. 2016-2026 Year Stock Option Plan, or the Kubota Holdings Stock Plan, became effective and was 

administered by Kubota Holdings. The Redomicile Transaction resulted in a share conversion between Kubota Holdings and 

Acucela US, pursuant to which the following substitution awards were issued, hereinafter referred to collectively as the 

Substitution Awards: 

 

•  Each unexpired, unexercised and outstanding Acucela US option was cancelled, and converted into a stock 

acquisition right, or stock option, issued by Kubota Holdings, with the same grant date, exercise price, vesting 

conditions and material terms as each such Acucela US option.  These are known as Series 1 through 19 stock 

option substitution awards;  

•  Each issued and outstanding Acucela US restricted stock unit, or RSU, was cancelled, and converted into a 

stock option with a 1 Japanese yen exercise price, issued by Kubota Holdings, with the same vesting conditions 

and material terms as each such cancelled RSU.  These are known as Series 20 restricted stock unit substitution 

awards;  

•  All outstanding shares of restricted stock awards granted by Acucela US were cancelled, and converted into 

shares of Kubota Holdings Common Stock.  Kubota Holdings Common Stock was distributed to holders with 

restrictions that are substantially similar in all material respects to such cancelled stock.  

 

As of December 31, 2016, the Kubota Holdings Stock Plan is the only equity incentive plan under which equity 

awards may be granted in the future.  As of December 31, 2016, no awards were outstanding under Kubota Holdings Stock 

Plan.  As of December 31, 2015, we had three equity incentive plans under which equity awards were outstanding: the 2014 

Equity Incentive Plan, as amended, the 2012 Equity Incentive Plan and the 2002 Stock Option and Restricted Stock Plan, or 

collectively, the Acucela US Equity Plans.  As of December 31, 2016, all outstanding awards were Substitution Awards. 

 

We record compensation expense based on the fair value for all stock-based awards, which amounted to $5.9 

million, $8.9 million, and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

 

As of December 31, 2016, 1,513,313 shares of common stock were reserved to be issued in conjunction with the 

Kubota Holdings Stock Plan.  The Kubota Holdings Stock Plan allows for the granting of stock options to employees, board 

members and consultants.  Stock options granted to U.S. employees may qualify for treatment as incent ive stock options under 

the U.S. Internal Revenue Code. 

 

On March 2015, the Board approved amendments to outstanding equity awards granted under the Acucela US 

Equity Plans to our employees, executive officers and non-employee members of our Board. The amendments provided that for 

employees and executive officers, if their employment is terminated without Cause or for Good Reason (as such terms are 

defined in the Change in Control Agreements) following a qualifying change in control of the Company, then any unvested 

portion of the awards held by such terminated employees and executives will become immediately vested. It was determined 

that the events of the Company's May 1, 2015 special shareholders meeting constituted a Qualifying Change in Control as 

defined in the Acucela US Equity Plans. 

 

Prior to the Qualifying Change in Control event, employees, executive officers and non-employee members of our 

Board were permitted to exercise their awards up to three months after termination.  The Qualifying Change in Control changed 

the allowable post-termination exercise period from three to twelve months.  The resulting modification resulted in $0.1 million 

of additional expense in 2015 and affected 27 employees and one non-employee member of our Board. 

 

The Qualifying Change in Control event in May 2015 accelerated the vesting of Acucela US options previously 

granted to our former non-employee directors as well as Acucela US options and Acucela US RSUs granted to our former 
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President and Chief Executive Officer (see "Note 12: Commitments" in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements of 

this document). 

 

Equity Awards 

 During 2016, the Board approved the grant of 1,432,500 Acucela US options, of which 780,000 options were 

granted to our CEO, 220,000 options were granted to the Board, 120,000 options were granted to our Executive Vice President 

of Research and Development and 312,500 were granted to employees of Acucela Inc. during the year.  

The grant to our CEO included 390,000 Acucela US options that will vest over a three-year period, with 33% 

vesting after one year and 67% vesting on a monthly pro rata basis thereafter. He was also granted an additional 390,000 

market-based Acucela US options which fully vested as of March 31, 2016.   

The grants to our Board vest in equal monthly installments over four years from the grant date.  

For the grant to our Executive Vice President of Research and Development, 7,500 Acucela US options vested on 

September 1, 2016.  Thereafter, 2,500 Acucela US options will vest on the first day of each month, such that the awards are 

fully vested as of June 1, 2020.  

Of the 312,500 Acucela US options granted to employees, the awards consisted of the following vesting conditions:  

 

•  104,800 options were granted to new hires and are subject to a four year vesting period, with 25% of the option 

vesting after the employee's one year anniversary and the remaining 75% of the options vesting on a monthly 

pro rata basis over the ensuing three years. 

•  14,000 options were granted to a new hire and are subject to a four year vesting period, with 25% vesting after 

the employee's one year anniversary and the remaining 75% of the options vesting every three months 

thereafter, such that the award becomes fully vested and exercisable on September 16, 2020.   

•  159,700 options granted to existing employees vest and become exercisable 1/16th on January 11, 2017 and 

every three months thereafter, such that the award becomes fully vested and exercisable on October 11, 2020.  

•  34,000 options were granted to employees due to promotions and are subject to vest and become exercisable 

1/16th on December 16, 2016 and every three months thereafter, such that the award becomes fully vested and 

exercisable on September 16, 2020.   

 

During 2015, the Board approved the grant of 1,509,872 Acucela US RSUs, 477,061 Acucela US restricted stock 

awards and 1,500,903 of Acucela US options to employees and senior executives of Acucela Inc. 

The 2015 awards are subject to a four-year vesting, with 25% vesting on the first year anniversary of the grant date 

and the remaining 75% on a monthly pro-rata basis over the ensuing three years. 

 

Option Activity 

The following is a summary of our Substitution Awards Series 1-19 as of December 31, 2016.  For further 

information please refer to the discussion of the Substitution Awards set forth above.  
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 Year Ended December 31, 2016 

Stock options: 

Shares 

Underlying 

Options  

Weighted Aver

age 

Exercise Price  

Aggregate 

Intrinsic Value 

(in thousands)  

Weighted Average 

Remaining Contractual 

Term (in years) 

Outstanding at beginning of period 1,854,030   $ 6.30   $ 2,244    

Granted 1,432,500   11.61      

Exercised (1,235,794 )  6.56   8,595    

Forfeited (40,929 )  5.90      

Expired (219 )  8.22      

Outstanding at end of period 2,009,588   $ 9.92   $ 1,865   9.1 

        

Vested and exercisable at end of 

period 192,883 

 

 $ 7.88 

 

 $ 393 

 

 8.6 

        

Vested and expected to vest at end 

of period 1,827,918 

 

 $ 9.90 

 

 $ 1,718 

 

 9.0 

 

Supplemental Information 2016  2015  2014 

Stock options:      

Weighted average grant date fair value per share - 

granted 
$ 6.71 

 
 $ 3.57 

 
 $ 5.00 

 

Total intrinsic value of options exercised (in 

thousands) 
$ 8,595 

 
 $ 45 

 
 $ 886 

 

Total fair value of options vested (in thousands) $ 920 
 

 $ 3,768 
 

 $ 482 
 

The fair value of stock options granted for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014 was calculated using 

the Black-Scholes option-pricing model and applied the following assumptions: 

 Years ended December 31, 

 2016  2015  2014 

Risk-free interest rate 1.2% - 2.0%  1.3%-1.8%  1.5%–2.5% 

Expected term 3.5 - 6.3 years  6.3 years  6.2 years 

Dividend yield —%  —%  —% 

Expected volatility 62% - 70.6%  67%  70% 

 Risk-Free Interest Rate. We base the risk-free interest rate used in our option-pricing model on the implied yield 

currently available on U.S. Treasuries issued with an equivalent term. Where the expected term of our stock-based awards does 

not correspond with the term for which an interest rate is quoted, we perform a straight-line interpolation to determine the rate 

from the available term maturities. 

 Expected Term. The expected term used in our option-pricing model represents the period that our stock-based awards 

are expected to be outstanding and is determined based on the simplified method. The simplified method uses a simple average 

of the vesting and original contractual terms of the option. We use the simplified method to determine the expected option term, 

since our stock option exercise experience does not provide a reasonable basis upon which to estimate the expected option term.  

 Dividend Yield. We have never paid cash dividends and have no present intention to pay cash dividends in the future. 

Accordingly, the expected dividend used in our option-pricing model is zero. 

 Expected Volatility. The volatility factor used in our option-pricing model is estimated using a probability weighted 

average of the Company's own volatility and the average volatility of comparable public companies.  Due to lack of trading 

history for the Company, expected volatility has been based on an evaluation of the historical volatility of comparable public 
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companies' share price, particularly over the historical period commensurate with the expected term.  In 2016, we added the 

Company's share price as part of the evaluation and probability weighted the average of two groups.  The expected term of the 

instruments has been based on historical experience and general option holder behavior. 

RSU and Restricted Award Activity 

The following is a summary of our Substitution Awards under Series 20 and a restricted stock award as of 

December 31, 2016.  For further information please refer to our discussion of the Substitution Awards set forth above. 

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2016 

RSUs and restricted stock awards: Shares  

Weighted Average 

Grant Date Fair Value 

Outstanding at beginning of period 1,195,931   $ 5.61  

Granted —   —  

Vested (454,148 )  5.60  

Forfeited (309,253 )  5.51  

Outstanding at end of period 432,530   $ 5.71  

 

The vesting schedules for all outstanding awards as of December 31, 2016 are as follows: 

Type of Award  Vesting Schedule  Group 

Stock Options  25% after the first year and the remaining 75% of 

award vesting on a monthly pro rata basis 

 Employees and 

Executive Officers 

Stock Options  Vested on a monthly pro rata basis  Board 

RSUs  25% vested annually for four years  Employees 

Restricted Awards and RSUs  25% after the first year and the remaining 75% of 

award vesting on a monthly pro rata basis 

 Executive Officers 

Stock Options  1/16 vests on January 11, 2017 and the remaining 

shares vest on a quarterly pro-rata basis, such that 

the award becomes fully vested and exercisable on 

October 11, 2020. 

 

 Employees 

Stock Options  1/16 vests on December 16, 2016 and the 

remaining shares vest on a quarterly pro-rata basis, 

such that the award becomes fully vested and 

exercisable on September 16, 2020 

 Employees 

Stock Options  25% vests on September 16, 2017 and the 

remaining shares vest on a quarterly pro-rata basis, 

such that the award becomes fully vested and 

exercisable on September 16, 2020 

 Employees 

Stock Options  33.3% vests after the first year and the remaining 

66.7% vest on a monthly pro-rata 

 Executive Officer 

Stock Options  Market based award: 1/3 vesting at 1,102.32 

Yen/share, 1/3 vesting at 1,469.76 Yen/share, 1/3 

vesting at 1,837.20 Yen/share 

 Executive Officer 

Stock Options  7,500 shares vest September 1, 2016. Thereafter, 

2,500 shares vest first day of each month until 

fully vested as of June 1, 2020. 

 Executive Officer 

 

Stock options have terms of five to ten years.  Any unexercised stock options expire at the end of the term. 
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As of December 31, 2016, there was unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested options of $7.8 million 

and unrecognized compensation cost related to RSUs and restricted stock awards of $2.3 million granted under the Equity 

Plans, respectively. The cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 3.0 years and 2.4 years, 

respectively.  

8. Income Taxes 

Deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2016 and 2015, are as follows (in thousands): 

 December 31, 

 2016  2015 

Deferred tax assets:    

Net operating loss carryforwards $ 17,348   $ 6,050  

Research & development tax credit carry forwards 1,029   1,029  

Deferred rent 376   427  

Property & equipment 152   140  

Compensation 2,680   2,810  

Alternative minimum tax credits 259   259  

Other 18   7  

Unrealized losses 141   141  

Total $ 22,003   $ 10,863  

Less:  valuation allowance (22,003 )  (10,863 ) 

Net deferred tax asset $ —   $ —  

At December 31, 2016 the company had federal research and development tax credit and net operating loss 

carryforwards of $1.0 million and $50.9 million, respectively. Use of the carryforwards is limited based on the future income of 

the company. The research and development tax credit carryforward will begin expiring in 2028, and the net operating loss 

carryforward will begin expiring in 2035.  

Approximately $0.3 million of the research and development tax credit carryforward relates to tax deductible stock-

based compensation in excess of amounts recognized for financial statement purpose.  To the extent that research and 

development tax credit carryforwards, if realized, relate to stock-based compensation, the resulting tax benefits will be recorded 

to shareholders' equity, rather than to results of operations. 

The components of the tax provisions are as follows (in thousands): 

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2016  2015  2014 

Federal:      

Current $ —   $ (2 )  $ (79 ) 

Deferred —   43   2,400  

 —   41   2,321  

State:      

Current $ 1   $ —   $ 19  

Deferred —   9   19  

 1   9   38  

Total $ 1   $ 50   $ 2,359  
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The reconciliation of the statutory federal income tax rate to the Company's effective tax rate is as follows:  

 Years Ended December 31, 

 2016  2015  2014 

Statutory Rate - Japan 33.0 %  N/A  N/A 

Foreign Rate Differential 1.0 %  N/A  N/A 

Federal Statutory rate 34.0 %  34.0 %  34.0 % 

State income taxes (0.1 )  0.2   6.8  

Stock compensation (1.6 )  (0.8 )  (7.8 ) 

Other permanent items (0.1 )  (0.1 )  5.5  

Meals and entertainment —   —   7.1  

Return to provision items —   —   (6.0 ) 

Other, net —   —   (3.6 ) 

Valuation allowance (32.2 )  (33.5 )  631.7  

Effective tax rate — %  (0.2 )%  667.7 % 

A full valuation allowance was established for deferred income tax assets, as, it is more likely than not that 

deductible temporary differences and net operating loss and credit carryforwards will not be realized through future taxable 

income. We recorded a full valuation allowance for the year ended December 31, 2016 of $22.0 million against our net 

operating loss, for a net increase of $11.1 million from 2015.  During the year ended December 31, 2015, we recorded a full 

valuation allowance of $10.9 million against our net operating loss, for a net increase of $8.6 million from the previous year.  

We recognize the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not that the tax position will 

be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits recognized 

in the financial statements from such a position are measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater than 50% likelihood 

of being realized upon ultimate settlement. However, there are no material unrecognized tax benefits as of December 31, 2016, 

or 2015.  Furthermore, we do not anticipate any significant changes in our unrecognized tax benefits over the next 12 months.  

We recognize interest and penalties related to our liabilities for uncertain tax positions in income tax expense. 

However, during the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, we did not have any accrued interest or penalties 

associated with any unrecognized tax benefits. 

9. Collaboration and License Agreements 

Collaboration with Otsuka 

During the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015 and 2014, we recognized $7.6 million, $24.1 million and $35.4 

million, respectively, of revenues in performance of our collaborative co-development agreement with Otsuka. 

Emixustat Collaboration 

In 2008, we entered into a definitive agreement with Otsuka to co-develop and commercialize Emixustat, our 

compound for geographic atrophy associated with dry AMD and for other potential indications in the United States, Canada, 

and Mexico, or Shared Territory. Under the agreement, we retained all rights in Europe, South America, Central America, the 

Caribbean, and Africa, or Acucela Territory, and Otsuka acquired the exclusive development and commercialization rights to 

the compound in Asia, the Middle East, and selected markets in the rest of the world, or Otsuka Territory. Otsuka paid us a $5.0 

million nonrefundable up-front license fee upon its entry into the agreement.  
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Under the agreement, Otsuka funded all development activities in the Shared Territory through Phase 2, up to $40.0 

million. In 2012, the cost of development activities exceeded $40.0 million and Otsuka agreed to continue the agreement and 

equally share development costs with us. Prior to Otsuka’s termination of the agreement in June 2016, we had the potential to 

receive development milestones totaling $82.5 million as follows: 

i. Initial Indication—$55.0 million 

a. $5.0 million upon initiation of a Phase 2b/3 clinical trial in the United States (received in the year 

ending December 31, 2013) 

b. $5.0 million upon initiation of a Phase 3 clinical trial in the United States, or the filing of a NDA 

with the FDA in the United States, if a second Phase 3 clinical trial is not needed 

c. $15.0 million upon filing of a NDA with the FDA in the United States 

d. $20.0 million upon receipt of approval by the FDA of an NDA in the United States 

e. $10.0 million upon receipt of approval by the regulatory authority of a marketing approval 

application in Japan 

ii. Second Indication—$27.5 million 

a. $5.0 million upon initiation of a Phase 3 clinical trial in the United States 

b. $7.5 million upon filing of an NDA with the FDA in the United States 

c. $10.0 million upon receipt of approval by the FDA of an NDA in the United States 

d. $5.0 million upon receipt of approval by the regulatory authority of a marketing approval application 

in Japan 

Under the agreement, Otsuka funded our share of the Phase 2 development costs in the form of a secured promissory 

note. The promissory note provides that (a) interest will accrue daily and be calculated on the basis of 360 days per year and be 

payable on all amounts advanced to us from the date of advance until paid in full; (b) unpaid interest will compound annually; 

and (c) the applicable interest rate will be adjusted quarterly to reflect the then-effective rate equal to the three-month London 

InterBank Offered Rate, or LIBOR, in the “Money Rates” column of The Wall Street Journal as of the first business day of each 

calendar quarter, plus 3%; and (d) all amounts are payable in U.S. dollars. The agreement includes a security interest agreement 

that grants Otsuka a first priority interest on our interests in net profits and royalty payments, and on our interests in ownership 

of the related collaboration compounds and collaboration products and the underlying intellectual property rights, both in the 

Shared Territory and the Acucela Territory. 

The loan is repayable only in the event that proceeds are generated by any future product sales under the 

collaboration agreement or by the sale or license of collaboration compounds and collaboration products developed under the 

agreement outside North America and Otsuka’s sole territory. 

As the agreement contained elements of funded development, we evaluated the agreement to determine if our 

obligation to Otsuka under the secured promissory note should be accounted for as a liability to repay a loan or as an obligation 

to perform contractual services. To conclude that a liability to repay a loan does not exist, the transfer of the financial r isk 

involved with research and development from us to Otsuka must be substantive and genuine. We have determined that our 

obligation to Otsuka should be accounted for as an obligation to perform contractual services because repayment depends solely 

on the results of development having future economic benefit. Consequently, amounts received from Otsuka for our share of 

development costs under the agreement are recognized as revenue. For the years ended December  31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, we 

have recognized cumulative revenue of approximately $64.6 million, $61.5 million, and $49.7 million respectively.   In June 

2016, Otsuka terminated their collaboration and licensing agreements with us. Going forward, we expect our revenues with 

Otsuka to reduce to zero.  As of December 31, 2016 and 2015, the contingently repayable funding has accrued $7.2 million and 

$4.6 million of interest, respectively. 

Our collaboration agreements with Otsuka were multiple element arrangements which were analyzed to identify 

whether the deliverables included in the agreements qualify as separate units of accounting. We determined that the activities 
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associated with development met the criterion for a separate unit of accounting, since these services had value to Otsuka on a 

standalone basis. Best estimate of the selling price, or BESP, is based on our analysis of the value of the services provided and 

consideration of the fees charged by third party vendors for similar development services. We determined that the fees charged 

for the research services are competitive with the price other third-party vendors charge for similar research services. There 

were no rights of return in our collaboration agreements. Payments that are contingent upon the occurrence of future events that 

are not exclusively within our control are excluded from the allocable arrangement consideration until the contingency is 

resolved. 

Revenue from development efforts is recognized as services are incurred by third-parties. Revenue earned by full-

time or part-time salaried employees is recognized using a proportional performance model based on hours worked. When we 

are able to estimate the total amount of services under a unit of accounting and such performance obligations are provided on a 

best-efforts basis, revenue is recognized using a proportional performance model. Costs incurred to date compared to total 

expected costs are used to determine proportional performance, as this is considered to be representative of the delivery of 

outputs. Significant judgment is required in determining the level of effort required and the period over which we are expected 

to complete our performance obligations under each unit of accounting. For the years ended December  31, 2016, 2015, and 

2014, we recognized $7.6 million, $24.1 million and $35.4 million, respectively, of revenue associated with development 

activities.  No milestone payments were made for the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014. 

OPA-6566 Collaboration 

In 2010, Otsuka and we entered into a definitive agreement to develop OPA-6566, Otsuka’s proprietary compound 

for the treatment of glaucoma. 

We evaluated the agreement and determined that the development activities under the agreement represented the 

only deliverable under the arrangement. Revenue from development activities is recognized as services are performed. During 

the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, we recognized no revenue in performance of the agreement. 

 

Termination of the Emixustat Agreement and OPA-6566 Agreement with Otsuka Pharmaceutical 

 

We received written notice from Otsuka on June 13, 2016, stating that Otsuka had elected to terminate in their 

entirety the Co-Development and Commercialization Agreement by and between the Company and Otsuka, dated September 4, 

2008, or the Emixustat Agreement, and the Development and Collaboration Agreement by and between the Company and 

Otsuka, dated September 15, 2010, or the OPA-6566 Agreement. In accordance with the terms of the respective agreements, the 

terminations of the Emixustat Agreement and the OPA-6566 Agreement were effective on June 27, 2016, or the Termination 

Date. Otsuka’s written notice stated that its decision to terminate was based on the recently announced trial results from our 

Phase 2b/3 study of Emixustat in patients with geographic atrophy secondary to dry age-related macular degeneration, or AMD. 

Otsuka’s terminations of the Emixustat Agreement and the OPA-6566 Agreement were in accordance with the terms of such 

agreements without modification or amendment thereto.  

 

As of the Termination Date, rights granted by the Company to Otsuka pursuant to the Emixustat Agreement reverted 

to the Company.  In addition, the Company and Otsuka have certain post-termination obligations as set forth in the Emixustat 

Agreement, including Otsuka’s responsibility for the cost of certain wind-down development activities for a six month period 

following the date of the termination notice. Effective on the Termination Date, Otsuka granted to the Company a perpetual, 

fully paid-up, non-exclusive license, with the right to grant sublicenses, under certain Otsuka intellectual property and data that 

are necessary or useful in the development, manufacture and commercialization of Emixustat. Wind-down costs for the six-

month period ended December 31, 2016 totaled $1.2 million and we do not anticipate further revenues in the future.   

 

The Emixustat Agreement requires the Company to pay a low single-digit percentage royalty to Otsuka based on net 

sales of approved products resulting from the Company’s continued development and commercialization of Emixustat after the 
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Termination Date. Such royalties will be capped at an amount equal to the total amount of the development costs and research 

costs already funded by Otsuka prior to the Termination Date, with interest. 

 

Pursuant to the terms of the OPA-6566 Agreement, which terms have been previously disclosed in our filings with 

the SEC, including our Annual Report on Form 10-K filed on March 11, 2016, the OPA-6566 Agreement granted us an opt-in 

right to co-develop and co-promote OPA-6566, Otsuka’s proprietary compound for the treatment of glaucoma, in the United 

States. We did not previously exercise our opt-in right. Pursuant to the OPA-6566 Agreement, all licenses granted by Otsuka to 

us expired on the Termination Date, and we will have no obligation to share development or commercialization costs that are 

incurred after the Termination Date.  

 

The foregoing is only a brief description of the material terms of the Emixustat Agreement and the OPA-6566 

Agreement, does not purport to be complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Emixustat Agreement and the 

OPA-6566 Agreement that were filed as Exhibits 10.9 and 10.10, respectively, to our Registration Statement on Form S-1, as 

amended (File No. 333-192900) filed with the SEC on December 17, 2013.   

 

Collaboration Agreement with EyeMedics 

 

In December 2016, we entered into the Collaboration Agreement, with EyeMedics. Pursuant to the terms of the 

Collaboration Agreement, we and EyeMedics will jointly conduct through human proof of concept the pre-clinical and clinical 

development of ACU-6151, a biomimetic small molecule covered by the license from the University of Southern California for 

the treatment, prevention and diagnosis of ophthalmic diseases, with an initial focus on diabetic macular edema.   The 

agreement includes an exclusive option to acquire the global rights to ACU-6151, including an initial candidate molecule for 

ophthalmic use. We may exercise the option at any time prior to 120 days following the conclusion of a proof of concept trial 

and a meeting between EyeMedics and the FDA to discuss final results of Phase 2 trials.  

 

The proprietary technology, licensed by EyeMedics from the University of Southern California, modulates 

endogenous factors released during the inflammatory process at the early pathogenic stages of age related macular 

degeneration, proliferative diabetic retinopathy, diabetic macular edema and other retinal neovascular conditions.  

 

Acucela Inc. and EyeMedics has established a Joint Development Committee, or JDC, to meet semi-annually to 

determine the budget for the following year.  The Company is required to advance any funds, less any remaining unused funds 

from the prior calendar half-year, to EyeMedics within 30 days of the JDC meeting. As of December 31, 2016, research and 

development work had not yet begun.  

 

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, we paid non-refundable fees of $0.5 million in June 2016 and an additional 

$0.4 million in December 2016 to fund future collaboration efforts. We recognized these amounts as prepayments which we 

will expense as research and development costs are incurred.   

 

Option and License Agreement with YouHealth Eyetech, Inc. 

 

In March 2016, we entered into an exclusive option and license agreement with YouHealth Eyetech, Inc., or 

YouHealth. YouHealth’s parent company, Guangzhou Kang Rui Biological Pharmaceutical Technology Co., Ltd., is a party to 

the agreement as a guarantor of YouHealth’s performance of its obligations. Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, YouHealth 

granted us an option to obtain a royalty-bearing license, with the right to sub-license, certain YouHealth technology to develop 

and commercialize products containing lanosterol for the treatment of ophthalmological diseases in all territories excluding the 

People’s Republic of China, Taiwan and Hong Kong.  Such excluded territories are referred to as the YouHealth Territory. We 

may exercise the option at any time before June 30, 2019, the option period, by providing written notice to YouHealth and a 

payment of $10.0 million.  
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During the option period, we granted YouHealth an exclusive, royalty-free, fully-paid license, without the right to 

sub-license, certain of our technology to develop products containing lanosterol in the YouHealth Territory. If we choose to 

exercise this option, the license granted by us to YouHealth will then permit sub-licensing and commercialization of products 

containing lanosterol by YouHealth in the YouHealth Territory.  

 

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, we paid a one-time upfront fee of $5.0 million to YouHealth during the first 

quarter of 2016. During the option period, YouHealth is eligible to receive up to an additional $5.0 million upon the 

achievement of certain near-term development and regulatory milestones establishing proof of concept. Upon our exercise of 

the option, YouHealth would then be eligible to receive up to an additional $300.0 million upon our achievement of certain 

regulatory milestones, such as initiation of Phase 3 clinical trials and approvals of new drug applications across multiple 

indications.  YouHealth would be eligible to receive up to an additional $90.0 million upon our achievement of certain post-

approval sales-based milestones. In addition to these potential one-time payments, YouHealth is eligible to receive a mid single-

digit percentage of annual net sales, which may increase to a higher mid single-digit percentage if certain annual net sales 

figures are exceeded. Royalties would be payable on a product-by-product and country-by-country basis until the later of ten 

years from the date of first commercial sale in a particular country or the expiration of the last-to-expire valid claim of certain 

YouHealth patents covering the products. In the event no valid patent claim covers the Product, the royalty percentage would be 

subject to a 50% reduction in payment.  In addition, the royalty may terminate at any time generic competition occurs.  

  

Pursuant to the terms of the agreement, each party will be solely responsible for the development, manufacture and 

commercialization of Products in its respective territory, compliance with applicable regulatory requirements and related 

expenses. We agreed to use diligent efforts to achieve certain milestones applicable to an existing license between YouHealth 

and the Regents of the University of California.  The license between YouHealth and the Regents of the University of California 

comprises part of the technology made available to us through this agreement.  

 

Unless earlier terminated by the parties, our agreement with YouHealth expires on June 30, 2019, if we have not 

exercised our option or, if we do exercise our option, then upon the last to expire royalty term for any commercialized product.  

Either party may terminate the agreement upon the other party’s material breach, after provision of written notice and an 

opportunity to cure such breach. We have the right to terminate the agreement for any reason at any time upon 60 days prior 

written notice to YouHealth. If we decline to exercise the option, YouHealth would have the right of first negotiation to obtain 

an exclusive, worldwide license, with right to sub-license, under certain of our patents, to develop and commercialize products 

for the treatment of ophthalmic diseases.  

 

License Agreement with University of Manchester 

 

In April 2016, we announced our execution of an exclusive license agreement with the University of Manchester, 

whereby we will develop and commercialize University of Manchester’s human rhodopsin based optogenetic gene therapy for 

the treatment of retinal degenerative disease, including retinitis pigmentosa. We paid a non-refundable fee of $0.2 million in 

connection with the execution of the agreement, which was expensed during the second quarter of 2016.  

10. Net Loss Per Share 

 

Basic net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the weighted average number of 

shares outstanding for the period. Diluted net income (loss) per share is calculated by dividing net income (loss) by the 

weighted average number of shares of the common stock outstanding and other dilutive securities outstanding during the 

period. The potential dilutive shares of our common stock include the exercise of outstanding stock options that are dilutive and 

restricted stock units.  
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For the years ended December 31, 2016, 2015, and 2014, equity awards of 1,089,606, 96,683, and 185,551 were 

excluded from the calculation of diluted net loss per share because the impact was anti-dilutive. 

11. Retirement Plans 

 

The Company’s 401(k) Plan is a deferred salary arrangement under Section 401(k) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

The 401(k) Plan allows U.S. employees to defer eligible compensation on a pre-tax and post-tax basis, up to the IRS annual 

contribution limit ($18,000 for calendar year 2016). The Company matches 50% of each employee’s contribution up to a 

maximum of 6% of the employee's eligible earnings.  Employees are always 100% vested in their own contributions and vest in 

our contributions at the end of each year.   

The defined benefit contribution for the 2016 and 2015 employer match was $0.2 million and $0.2 million, 

respectively.  In January 2015, the Board also authorized a non-elective discretionary employer contribution of $0.4 million to 

be allocated to participant accounts which vests over a four-year period based on employee hire dates. Such amounts are 

included in general and administrative and research and development expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of 

operations. 

12. Commitments and Contingencies 

Leases 

We lease laboratory and corporate office space under operating leases.  On August 17, 2016, we entered into an 

agreement with Servcorp to lease office space for Kubota Holdings' corporate headquarters in Tokyo, Japan.  The term of the 

lease commenced on September 1, 2016 and will expire June 30, 2017 with automatic rollover every two months if written 

notice is not given to Servcorp two months in advance. 

On June 26, 2014, we entered into an agreement for the lease of approximately 38,723 square feet of office space for 

Acucela US's offices in Seattle, Washington. The term of the lease commenced on January 1, 2015 and, subject to the terms of 

the lease, will expire on November 30, 2021.  In 2015, we received a tenant leasehold improvement allowance of $1.2 million 

in connection with the commencement of this lease.  On January 12, 2017, we entered into a sub-sublease agreement (the 

Zillow Sublease) with Zillow, Inc.  See Item 2. Properties for additional information on the Zillow Sublease.   

Acucela US also leases approximately 17,488 square feet of laboratory and office space in Bothell, Washington that 

it uses for laboratory, research and development and general and administrative purposes.  The current annual rent is $0.4 

million, subject to adjustment pursuant to the terms of the lease.  On January 4, 2017, we entered into an amendment to the 

Bothell lease agreement.  The amendment extended the expiration date of the original lease from February 28, 2017 to February 

29, 2020, subject to our right to extend the term for one additional two-year period by written notice.  See "Item 2. Properties" 

for additional information on the Bothell lease amendment.  

Lease incentives are recognized as deferred rent liabilities and amortized to rent expense over the term of the lease. 

Minimum rent payments under operating leases are recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease, including any 

periods of free rent and reduced rent. 

Future minimum lease payments under operating leases (with initial or remaining lease terms in excess of one year) 

as of December 31, 2016 are as follows (in thousands): 

 Payments Due by Period 

 2017  2018  2019  2020  2021  Thereafter  Total 

Operating lease obligations $ 1,051   $ 968   $ 1,007   $ 1,046   $ 994   $ —   $ 5,066  

Total $ 1,051   $ 968   $ 1,007   $ 1,046   $ 994   $ —   $ 5,066  
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Rent expense was $1.9 million, $2.0 million, and $1.0 million, respectively, in the years ended December  31, 2016, 

2015, and 2014. 

 

The foregoing table does not reflect the impact of the Zillow Sublease and the Bothell lease amendment. 

 

Severance and Change in Effective Control Agreements 

 

Mr. Roger Girard, our former Chief Strategy Officer, ceased to be an employee on July 10, 2016.  In July 11, 2016, 

we entered into a Separation Agreement and Release with Mr. Girard, which entitles him to receive continuing payments at a 

rate equal to his annual base salary for a period of nine months from his termination date, up to nine months of health benefit 

coverage under our COBRA program, an incentive bonus equal to 50% of nine months of his base salary in effect on his 

termination date and nine months of vesting on his Acucela US RSUs, from his termination date.  As of December 31, 2016, we 

paid severance of $0.2 million, and accrued severance of $0.2 million to our former Chief Strategy Officer, which is due to be 

paid through April 2017.  In addition, we incurred $0.5 million of stock compensation expense related to the accelerated vesting 

of his Acucela US RSUs.  All remaining unvested Acucela US RSUs were forfeited. 

 

In July 9, 2016, we entered into a Separation Agreement and Release with Dr. George Lasezkay, our former 

Executive Vice President, General Counsel.  The Separation Agreement and Release agreement entitles him to receive 

continuing payments at a rate equal to his annual base salary for a period of nine months from his termination date, up to nine 

months of health benefit coverage under our COBRA program, an incentive bonus equal to 35% of nine months of his base 

salary in effect on his termination date and nine months of vesting on his Acucela US RSUs, from his termination date.  As of 

December 31, 2016, we paid $0.1 million and accrued severance of $0.2 million to our former Executive Vice President, 

General Counsel, which is due to be paid through April 2017. In addition, the Company incurred $0.2 million of stock 

compensation expense related to his accelerated Acucela US RSUs. All remaining unvested Acucela US RSUs were forfeited. 

 

During 2016, we paid $0.6 million in severance related to our former employees which are due to be paid through 

April 2017.  

 

In March 2015, the Board approved the terms of the Severance and Change in Effective Control Agreements entered 

into with each member of our then current management team and certain other employees, or the Change in Control 

Agreements.  The Change in Control Agreements provide that if the employee terminates for any reason or for no reason 

(including disability), voluntarily resigns for good reason (as defined in the agreement), or the employee dies, and the 

termination occurs within the six month period following a Qualifying Change in Effective Control (as defined in the Change in 

Control Agreements), the employee will be entitled to an amount equal to the sum of six months of his or her monthly base 

salary, plus 50% of the employee’s annual target bonus for 2015, plus the premiums required to continue the employee’s group 

health care coverage for a period of six months following termination, which will be “grossed up” to cover taxes. The Change 

in Control Agreements terminated upon the earlier of November 1, 2015 or the employee’s termination date (unless the 

termination is within six months following a Qualifying Change in Effective Control).  In May 2015, as a result of the actions 

taken at a special meeting of our shareholders, a Qualifying Change in Effective Control was deemed to have taken place under 

the terms of the Change in Control Agreements.  In 2015, the Company incurred $2.3 million of severance made under this 

plan. 

 

Mr. Brian O'Callaghan resigned his position as our President and Chief Executive Officer, effective on May 3, 2015.  

Under Mr. O'Callaghan's employment agreement, the termination of Mr. O’Callaghan’s employment without Cause or for Good 

Reason (as such terms were defined in his employment agreement), entitled him to receive 18 months of salary, up to 18 

months of the premiums for health benefit coverage provided under our COBRA program, and a pro-rated portion of his annual 

bonus, totaling approximately $0.9 million in cash paid in 2015. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Acucela US 2014 
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Equity Incentive Plan, all of his Acucela US options and Acucela US RSUs were accelerated such that his equity awards were 

fully vested as of May 3, 2015. 

 

In April 2015, Mr. O'Callaghan's Acucela US options were modified to extend the post-termination exercise period 

from three months to twelve months. The Company recognized stock-based compensation expense of $2.7 million related to the 

accelerated vesting of his Acucela US options in connection with his termination. In addition, pursuant to the terms of the 

Acucela US 2014 Equity Incentive Plan, the vesting of his Acucela US RSUs were accelerated such that these equity awards 

were fully vested as of May 3, 2015. We recognized general and administrative expense of approximately $2.1 million related 

to his Acucela US RSUs during 2015.  

 

Mr. Steven Tarr resigned his position as our Chief Operating Officer, or COO, effective November 18, 2015.  Under 

Mr. Tarr's employment agreement, the termination of Mr. Tarr's employment without Cause or for Good reason, entitled him to 

receive 9 months of salary and 9 months of health benefit coverage under our COBRA program.  The COO severance amounts, 

totaling $0.3 million in cash, was paid through August 2016.  In addition, pursuant to the terms of the Acucela US 2014 Equity 

Incentive Plan, the vesting of his restricted stock awards were accelerated such that all were fully vested as of November 18, 

2015.  We recognized stock-based compensation expense of $1.8 million related to his accelerated restricted stock awards 

during 2015. 

 

Litigation  

From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of business. We are not 

currently a party to any material legal proceedings, and to our knowledge none is threatened. There can be no assurance that 

future legal proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business or otherwise will not have a material adverse effect on our 

financial position, results of operations or cash flows.  

13. Related-Party Transactions 

 

In July, 2016, we entered into a consulting agreement with Dr. George Lasezkay, our former Executive Vice 

President, General Counsel, following termination of his employment with us.  Pursuant to the terms of the consulting 

agreement, Dr. Lasezkay provides services to us relating to business and strategic partnering advisory services.   In 2016, we 

paid Dr. Lasezkay aggregate consulting fees of $0.2 million pursuant to the consulting agreement.  The consulting agreement is 

scheduled to terminate in April 2017 and we do not anticipate extending its term at such time. 

SBI Holdings, Inc., one of our shareholders and a related party, was the holder for our contingently convertible debt.  

In connection with our IPO, the contingently convertible debt automatically converted into 3,636,365 shares of common stock.  

The number of shares issued upon conversion was determined by dividing the principal of the note by $3.30, which was subject 

to adjustment for any subsequent recapitalizations, stock combinations, stock dividends, or stock splits. 

On December 22, 2015, the Company filed an S-3 Registration Statement for the resale of up to 7,752,425 shares of 

our common stock that may be offered and sold from time to time by SBI Holdings, Inc. The shares of common stock were 

initially issued in private sales not registered under the Securities Act. We will not receive any of the proceeds from the sale of 

the shares of our common stock being sold.  According to the Schedule 13D/A filed on January 11, 2017 by SBI Holdings, Inc. 

and SBI Incubation Co., SBI Holdings, Inc. owns 14,449,325 shares of our common stock. 

 

Dr. Kubota and SBI Holdings, Inc., our two largest shareholders, incurred certain fees and expenses totaling 

approximately $0.8 million in preparation for the May 1, 2015 Special Shareholders' meeting.  Our Board appointed a special 

committee, or the Special Committee, consisting entirely of independent directors to evaluate these expenses to determine if the 

expenses, or a portion thereof, should be reimbursed by the Company.  The Special Committee met on June 8, 2015 and 

concluded that the reimbursement of these expenses was appropriate.  
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14. Quarterly Information (Unaudited) 

 

The following tables set forth our unaudited quarterly statement of operations data for each of the last eight quarters 

in the period ended December 31, 2016. The unaudited quarterly statement of operations data below have been prepared on the 

same basis as the audited financial statements included elsewhere in this Form 10-K and reflect all necessary adjustments, 

consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, that we believe are necessary for a fair statement of this information. The 

results of historical quarters are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations for a full year or any future period: 

 (unaudited) 

 (In thousands, except per share amounts) 

 March 31  June 30  September 30  December 31  

2016         

Revenue from collaborations $ 3,756   $ 2,874   $ 711   $ 265   

Net loss $ (12,591 )  $ (7,751 )  $ (6,976 )  $ (7,207 )  

Basic net loss per share (0.34 )  (0.21 )  (0.18 )  (0.19 )  

Diluted net loss per share (0.34 )  (0.21 )  (0.18 )  (0.19 )  
 

 March 31  June 30  September 30  December 31  

2015         

Revenue from collaborations $ 7,215   $ 7,181   $ 7,128   $ 2,543  (1) 

Net loss $ (3,940 )  $ (9,738 )  $ (3,550 )  $ (8,281 )  

Basic net loss per share (0.11 )  (0.27 )  (0.10 )  (0.23 )  

Diluted net loss per share (0.11 )  (0.27 )  (0.10 )  (0.23 )  

(1) In the fourth quarter of 2015, we were in negotiations with Otsuka regarding the amount of indirect cost applicable in 2015. This negotiation resulted in a 

settlement of approximately $2.6 million, which was issued as a credit to Otsuka for development expenses that had been recognized as revenue in 2015 and 

has been recorded as a reduction to revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015. 
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15. Subsequent Events 

 

On January 4, 2017, Acucela US and Nexus Canyon Park LLC entered into an amendment to the lease 

agreement for the Bothell office used for Acucela US's research and development laboratory and office space.  

Pursuant to the terms of the amendment, the term of the Bothell Lease was extended to February 28, 2020, subject to 

Acucela US’s right to extend the term for one additional two year period by written notice to Nexus given no earlier 

than 18 months and no later than 12 months prior to February 28, 2020.  

 

On January 12, 2017, Acucela US entered into a Sub-Sublease Agreement with Zillow, Inc., pursuant to 

which Zillow, Inc., will sublease from Acucela US all 38,723 square feet of Acucela US's Seattle office space.  

The Zillow Sublease commences on May 1, 2017 and will continue until the expiration of the Acucela 

Sublease on February 28, 2022, unless Boeing earlier terminates the Acucela Sublease on November 30, 2021. For 

the first three months of the term of the Zillow Sublease, Acucela US will remain responsible for payment of rent to 

the Boeing Company. Following such three month period, the base rent shall be payable monthly by Zillow to 

Acucela US. In addition to base rent, Zillow will also be responsible for operating and other expenses owed by 

Acucela US to the Boeing Company pursuant to the terms of the Acucela Sublease. The Zillow Sublease is subject 

and subordinate to the Acucela Sublease and Boeing's lease with the landlord of the Seattle office space. During the 

term of the Zillow Sublease, Acucela US’s obligations under the Acucela Sublease will remain in force. 

Acucela US is evaluating alternative office space in Seattle, Washington and intends to relocate its 

operations currently occupying the Seattle office space once satisfactory space is secured.  

 

In December 2016, we entered into a collaboration agreement to jointly conduct through human proof of 

concept, the pre-clinical and clinical development of ACU-6151, a biomimetic small molecule covered by the 

license from the University of Southern California for the treatment, prevention and diagnosis of ophthalmic 

diseases, with an initial focus on diabetic macular edema.   The agreement includes an exclusive option to acquire 

EyeMedics’ assets related to the development program contemplated by the collaboration agreement. We may 

exercise the option at any time prior to 120 days following the conclusion of a proof of concept trial and a meeting 

between EyeMedics and the FDA to discuss final results of a Phase 2 human proof of concept clinical trial. On 

January 2017, Acucela advanced additional $1.2 million to EyeMedics for collaboration work for the first half of 

2017.   

 

For further discussion of the Bothell lease amendment, Sub-Sublease Agreement and future funding for 

EyeMedics, please refer to "Note 9: Collaboration and License Agreements" and "Note 12: Commitments" in the 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements in this document. 


